
By Janet Nicol

Mary Ellen Turpel-Lafond bravely
enters a vortex where “crisis meets
opportunity” as she advocates for
32,000 BC children in government
care, half of whom are Aboriginal.
She is already making a difference
one year into her job as British
Columbia’s first Representative for
Children and Youth—if only by
clearing our vision. 

Turpel-Lafond brings to her role
of protecting society’s most vulner -
able, the experience of growing up
on a Manitoba First Nations reserve,

BC, Alberta
standards
‘harmonized’

The BC College of Teachers and
the BC Liberal government have put
the same spin on the new certifica -
tion requirements for BC and
Alberta resulting from TILMA—the
Trade, Investment, and Labour
Mobility Agreement between
Alberta and BC. Both claim that
requirements for certification in B.C.
have not been reduced. The BC
College of Teachers media release
on its website is even word for word
the same as the government media
release—complete with the quotes
from two government ministers.

TILMA was negotiated in secret
between the two provinces and
approved only by the cabinets in the
two provinces, not passed as
legislation. The new certification
agreement is called the Teacher
Mobility Agreement. 

One element of TILMA requires
mutual recognition of qualifications
between the two provinces for a
variety of occupations, including
teaching.

The BC College of Teachers
entered into negotiations held in
secret with the government of
Alberta and with the BC Inspector of
Independent Schools, who can
issue special certificates for private
school teachers.  

The agreement reached between
the three parties, not surprisingly,
reduced requirements for public
school certification in the province
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Helping hands 
inthe community

The Crochet Club at Coquitlam’s Rochester Elementary School have completed over 50 beautiful scarves for the
homeless. One of the school goals has been to focus on social responsibility by improv ing students’ skills in contributing
to the classroom and school com munity. Some monthly themes have been caring, respect, a sense of belonging, and
diversity. We teach these values through assemblies, direct classroom instruction, leadership groups, and daily school-
wide announce ments. The crochet project has been one way that students at Rochester Elementary School have been
able to achieve and/or work toward this goal. See the full story by Vicki Stuart on page 5.

with the higher requirements—
British Columbia. Critics have long
warned that TILMA would lead to a
race to the bottom in regulations
and standards.

The academic course require -
ments other than education are
reduced from 60 credits to 30
credits. The Canadian studies
requirement is reduced from 6
credits to 3 credits. The requirement
for a science course no longer
includes a laboratory component. A
second teaching area is no longer
required for secondary teachers.
There is no requirement for upper
level course work. For francophone
teachers restricted to teaching in
French only, English proficiency will
no longer be required.

While those seeking certificates
may be happy to have reduced
demands, there is no denying that
the requirements have been
reduced for getting a certificate in
BC, despite claims to the contrary
by the Minister of Trade.

In theory, the College of Teachers,
with a majority of its council mem -
bers elected by members of the
college, had the authority to deter -
mine the requirements for
certificates. TILMA has, in effect,
reduced that authority.

Further, making any changes in
the future will be much more
difficult. Improvements will require
agreement of agencies in two
provinces—the education ministry
in Alberta and the College of
Teachers in BC. If other provinces
join the agreement, the system will
become even more inflexible
because all parties to the deal will
have to agree to the changes.

– Larry Kuehn

Making visible 
BC’s most vulnerable
children 
Mary Ellen Turpel-Lafond leads the way

See MAKING VISIBLE page 3

is one part of looking at the system.
My goal is to support efforts to
nurture the learning spirit of
children but also to know how they
are doing.” 

Turpel-Lafond acknowledges FSA
testing of Grades 4 and 7 children
may not be the most accurate
measurement of certain skills.

“However, other instruments like
the Early Development Instrument
(EDI) are more robust,” she said.
“When I looked at 32,000 children in
care I noted increasing gaps from
Kindergarten to Grade 12 for
vulnerable children. The EDI was
probably the most predictive of all
instruments.” 

“You need to measure,” she
insisted in spite of educators’
opposing position. “When a large
segment of kids with vulnerabilities
are in the education system, I need
to look closely to see what is
happening to support them.” 

Making visible, monitoring, and
accountability are Turpel-Lafond’s
key goals for children and youth as
she talks to people around the
province and examines the hard
statistical data crossing her desk.
And this was her repeated message
to an audience of about 100 in
Vancouver, many retired profes -
sional women.

“It is the best of times and the
worst of times,” Turpel-Lafond told
the gathering. “While the province’s
economy is booming,” she said,
“more children live in poverty here
than in any other province in
Canada.”

“It surprised me too,” she confes -
sed in reaction to the audible gasps
among audience members. But
statistics show 15.2% of children in
BC live below the poverty line.

The federal government’s recent
$60 billion in tax cuts would be

…she didn’t lose any time
getting started. In April, she
insti gated a “you have a
voice” cam paign directed
toward children in govern -
ment care, after opening
offices in Victoria, Vancouver,
and Prince George.

attaining four university degrees,
and working and teaching in the
legal world. She is also a wife and
mother of four children.

So when Turpel-Lafond took a
five-year leave from her duties as a
judge in Saskatchewan last
November, she didn’t lose any time
getting started. In April, she insti -
gated a “you have a voice” cam -
paign directed toward children in
government care, after opening
offices in Victoria, Vancouver, and
Prince George. Already, her team
has received more than 700
responses. Clearly Turpel-Lafond is
listening.

But teachers aren’t getting her
ear when it comes to standardized
testing. 

“We need to know how students
are doing,” Turpel-Lafond said in an
interview following a recent talk to
the University Women’s Club in
Vancouver.

“Thirty percent of kids in care and
20% of all Aboriginal children are
not being tested,” she said. “Testing
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BCeSIS—a net loss
There may be benefits to a

computerized provincial records
system but many of us up here in
schools in Kitimat, are yet to be
convinced. We have just survived
our first term under the new BCeSIS
reporting system. We have done our
first report cards online using our
government-issued laptops.
Warning! It sounds better than it is.

We have felt like guinea pigs in
some kind of educational experi -
ment. I don’t know who volunteered
us but the only positive in the whole
of it is that we survived. As for the
experience, let’s just say it was
expensive. For well over a month,
BCeSIS hijacked our entire teaching
agenda. Almost every extra avail -
able moment during the six weeks
of preparation of the reports was
spent mastering the system. We all
felt overwhelmed and rather lost.
We were using an elementary
reporting system without a built-in
spell checker, without a section for
technology, and without even a
work habits or general summary
section. The form was simply
flawed, and rather sub-standard. It
certainly was not an improvement
on what we had used in years past.
Of course, being online it should
have eliminated unnecessary
paper—right? Wrong—we had to
photocopy all reports and put them
into the files ourselves. 

The cost of using BCeSIS should
not just be measured in the cost of
laptops, technical people, and
systems, but in the loss of creativity,
lessons, and opportunities. In 32
years of teaching, I have never seen
a teaching agenda so de-railed as
what I observed in the lead-up to
our first term report. There just was
no energy or time left to go the
extra distance in our lessons. Our
lessons, and therefore our students,

into the faces of the generation that
will replace us when we retire.
When these new teachers enter the
profession they bring a fresh per -
spective, recent university training,
and a new enthusiasm to our
schools. They cause us to see
teaching through new eyes and
remind us why we chose to become
teachers.

When I speak about our organi -
za tion at these events, my commit -
ment to the BCTF is also renewed.
Most students have heard about our
work in bargaining and political
action because that activity gets a
great deal of media attention. I let
them know that we devote equal
time and resources to our work as a
professional organization. When we
talk about ensuring a strong and
stable public education system, we
understand that being good
teachers and becoming better

teachers is one of the ways we keep
our public system strong.

I tell the students about our many
fine professional programs such as
Program Quality Teaching, Peer
Sup port, and our workshop pro -
grams. More than 160 teachers
volunteer a great deal of their
precious time to become “teachers
teaching teachers.” I encourage the
students to join one of our 33
provincial specialist associations.
Our PSAs play a key role in profes -
sional develop ment and curriculum
issues. We are the only teacher
organiza tion in the country to run a
lesson aids service for our
members.

It is never too early to let new
teachers know they need to pay
attention to economic security. I tell
the students to make note of our
$16 billion pension plan and our
$180 million Salary Indemnity Fund.  

As for the political side of our
work, as teachers we recognize that
political decisions influence every -
thing we do—how we teach, what
we teach, how much we get paid to
teach, how many students are in
our class, and how many resources
we have to meet their needs. For all
of our 90-year history, we have
been engaged in attempting to
influence government. We will be
counting on the next generation of
teachers to continue that tradition.

One of the most wonderful
aspects of the teachers of BC is that
we are not content to concentrate
exclusively on public education. We
are proud to describe ourselves as a
social-justice union. We want to
change the world for the better.
That’s what teaching is all about.
We continue the struggle for peace
and against racism, sexism, poverty,
and homophobia. In post-apartheid

South Africa we helped teachers
form the South African Democratic
Teachers’ Union and we continue to
have a very strong relationship with
many teacher unions both in Africa
and Latin America. We have a great
deal to contribute but also a great
deal to learn from our colleagues
around the world about political
activism, democracy, and social
justice.

Sometimes when I describe to
students all the things the BCTF
does I am exhausted, but mostly it
convinces me that I am right when I
tell them they are joining the finest
group of teachers in the world. Our
BCTF days on campus have given
me the opportunity to meet many of
the young people who will be the
next generation of teachers and
activists in the BCTF. Our union and
public education will be in good
hands.
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President’s
message

Irene 
Lanzinger

Welcoming new teachers
Several years ago, we began the

practice of going to the teacher-
training programs in the province
for a BCTF Day on Campus. One of
my favourite duties as president of
the Federation is giving the plenary
address and answering questions at
our days on campus.

It is a lovely experience to look

Readers write
suffered. As for help with our
various computers within the
schools, forget it. Any computer
technical people were completely
dedicated to BCeSIS. There was just
no time for other desperately
needed solutions for computer
problems.

Colleagues, beware of BCeSIS!
Your turn is coming soon. BCeSIS
needs a lot of refinements before
you journey down the road we have
just traveled. Good luck.
Walter Thorne
Kitimat

Thank you
I always enjoy my copy of the

Teacher. Although I retired in 1986, I
still feel the presence of teachers
and the precious children when I
read all the up-to-date news in the
newsmagazine. Congratulations on
doing an excellent job and keeping
me happy!

I will keep reading—you keep
sending!
Jean Little
Maple Ridge

Steelworkers’ solidarity 
I am writing to thank the BCTF

for the generous donation to our
forest industry strike.

As you are aware, the majority of
the strikers are now back at work,
but there are still many members
out of work because their employ -
ers have not called them back. In
addition, our local unions’ supple -
mental strike funds were, in most
cases, depleted over the course of
the 3.5 month strike. These
circumstances make the BCTF
contribution both timely and very
welcomed, notwithstanding the
successful resolution of the dispute.

Please know that your union’s
show of support will be remem -

bered and you and your members
will have the solidarity of the
Steelworkers in Western Canada
should the need arise.
Stephen Hunt
Director, United Steelworkers, Dist. 3

The girls that 
schools don’t protect

Aqsa Parvez, the 16-year-old
Mississauga, Ontario girl who was
choked to death by her father
December 10 for refusing to wear a
head scarf (hijab), is one of count -
less schoolgirls in Canada who
suffer physical abuse from parents
for being unfaithful to their
community.

The position of school authorities
is that girls wearing the hijab or
other repressive clothing do so as
an expression of “religious free -
dom,” much like the boys who wear
turbans. Yet some of these children
dread the way they dress and feel
shackled by parental expectations.
They are often far from free. 

In Parvez’s case, her parents
pushed her too far. She left home
twice in the previous three months,
the first time staying at a Toronto
shelter. The executive director at
the shelter, Wendy Horton, told the
press that children like Parvez are
caught between their immigrant
parents’ desire to see their children
respectful of their culture and the
children’s own desire to be like their
friends.

Schools are understandably
reluctant to extend their influence
into the parental home, and stu -
dents who live in an abusive home
are afraid to walk their problems
out the front door. Yet what
happens to these children in their
homes should be everyone’s
concern.

The BC Child, Family and Com -
munity Service Act (Part 1, s. 2) says

“children are entitled to be pro -
tected from abuse, neglect, and
harm or threat of harm,” and
schools are obliged to report
physical abuse in the home. But
what do we do about the children
who do not come forward? There is
no report in the media that Aqsa
Parvez ever spoke to counsellors or
teachers at her school.

Schools have to work harder to
bring threatened and abused
children into their hold. They must
also begin asking the girls who are
donning head scarves and veils
whether they are doing so out of
choice or fear. 

Our public school system proudly
honours the parental and religious
rights of people from different
lands. But these rights must be
balanced against their children’s
right to be who they want to be.
Jim McMurtry
Surrey

Response to articles on
standardized testing

The Nov./Dec. 2007 issue of
Teacher, which focussed on the
disadvantages to students and
public education of extensive,
compulsory, standardized testing is
outstanding. Above all, two articles
caught my attention.

My ex-colleague, Jim Bowman,
with his “A Standardized Test for
the Standardized Testers” exuded
irony, humour, and unfortunately,
tragedy.

Opposite page, Thierry Ponchet’s
article, “South Park: The little school
that could,” inspired a personal
pride as I attended Grades 4 to 6
there from 1933 to 1936. I may be
the oldest former student who has
the privilege of reading the news -
magazine. Of all the schools in our
province, isn’t it ironic and fortunate
that the parents, teachers, and
students of the school geographi -
cally located closest to the Ministry
of Education have assumed a
leading opposition role to
standardized testing?
John Church
Vancouver

Support for 
Grade 12 exams

I read the article on the account -
ability agenda (Teacher, Nov./Dec.
2007) with some interest.

Let me begin by saying that I am
against the bogus Grades 4, 7, 10,
and 11 government exams. They
are snapshot exams that bear little
relation to information taught in the
classroom.

However, I have always been a
supporter of the Grade 12 exams.
These are not mere snapshot
exams, but tend to actually test
information covered during the
year. The exams were a standard to
compare with the teacher’s school
marks. Ask most teachers of Grade
12 government examinable courses
and they grudgingly support them.

Recently, a number of private
schools have sprung up in the
province. In an environment of little
or no regulation, their educational
results have been startling. When
comparing the school marks (all A’s)
with the exam marks (mostly F’s),
one can see the importance of an
external standard. Without some
form of government exam, the only
marks reported would be those
school marks.

Most universities have moved
away from using government
exams for admission; again, the
only marks they will now be looking
at will be the school marks.

I know most school marks are
legit, but in a deregulated system, it
will be easier for students to ‘buy’
marks.

Meanwhile, the Ministry of
Education has relegated Grade 12
government exams such as Physics
12, History 12, Biology 12, etc., to
an optional status. As a result, fewer
students are writing the exams.

The upside is that the Fraser
Institute has less ammunition to
promote private schools. However,
I’m saddened that a long tradition,
supported by many dedicated
teachers, is rapidly biting the dust.
Peter Hill
Vancouver

The nightmare 
before schools

Could it be any clearer that K to
12 students in this province have
ceased to be valued as human
beings and have become widgets?
Not only do we subject them to
quality control checks (standardized
tests) in Grades 4, 7, 10, 11, and 12,
but now we are finely measuring
the per-unit cost of putting each
one of them through the system.
Education funding has stooped to a
new low. 

The education ministry’s an -
nouncement that it is clawing back
funding for each secondary student
not taking a full—meaning eight—
course load is so unworkable as to
be absurd. Only if students are
treated as the sum of the courses
they are taking could this possibly
make sense. 

Schools don’t do this. They count
each student as one person. Maybe
some students take a summer
course to lighten the load in Grade
12 because they need to work part-
time. Maybe some see summer
school as a way to deal with a
particularly difficult course. What -
ever the reason, schools should not
be penalized for students’ efforts to
make the system work. 

School planning is hard enough
using whole people. It will be a
nightmare using an unpredictable
number of 6/8 and 7/8 people.
Unless the government is trying to
stop boards of education from
offering summer school courses,
this clawback must be stopped. 

The minister of education has
pledged to make BC the best-
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educated, most literate jurisdiction
on the continent. This is so she can
fulfil one of the government’s “five
great goals for a golden decade.” It
will be interesting to see what
measures she will use to chart her
progress with graduation rates
stalled and enrolment in neighbour -
hood public schools declining as
exclusive private school enrolment
increases. 

In some other jurisdictions,
governments have shown leader -
ship by investing in education. What
has BC done? It has announced that
it is spending more than ever before
on a per-pupil basis. This is not an
investment. It barely allows boards
to keep up with the rising cost of
fuel and other fixed costs. Investing
is something different. At a mini -
mum it involves dealing with
students as whole people with
varying needs and abilities. 

The minister of education can
show some leadership by telling
boards of education that they do not
have to make mid-year cuts. Rather
than ask boards to bear the cost,
the minister should ask the treasury
for funds to support the cost of
students attending summer school.
Relative to the budget surplus,
paying for a small group of students
willing to invest their summer holi -
days in school is a small cost. It
might also go part way to respecting
them as human beings.
Catherine Evans
Chair, British Columbia Society for
Public Education

Active solutions
I was reading the current edition

of the Teacher magazine issued by
the BCTF and I just wanted to say
thank you for the story on South
Park School. There are tons of
articles in this magazine and all
over the place about the ill effects of
standardized tests, and how they
affect the students, and I felt this
article differed in that it identified
active solutions to the moronic
actions of the ministry.

I am curious as to what the
response has been from the
ministry to the stance taken at
South Park. Have they been hit with
sanctions or any penalties at all? 

I taught in Burnaby for the past
four years and I am currently
teaching in Prince George. I just
wanted to write and say the article
was great to see and that I really
liked the part mentioning that the
education of our youth is too
important to be left in the hands of
the unknowing—the ministry. 

I think the public would be really
interested to know the level of
education, therefore hands-on
knowledge and experience, that the
“minister” has, or does not have? I
am always blown away at the reac -
tions of people when I tell them that
the minister of education is not re -
quired to have any experience
whatsoever. I wonder what kind of

headline that would make? Thank
you and keep advertising those who
are supporting the education of the
students and not focussing on the
ranking systems for the govern -
ment.
Josh Ogilvie
Prince George

Following principles of
the Primary Program

Thank you for printing the articles
and the letter on testing in the
Nov./Dec. 2007 Teacher. It’s a topic
that has kept me talking and writing
during the more than 10 years since
I retired and even earlier when the
whole issue began to rear its ugly
head. The article based on Dr.
Ross’s speech is powerful, David
Companion’s letter, and Jim
Bowman’s test for testers, right on,
and the description of South Park
School, inspiring.

Out-of-school and out-and-about
in the world, I find that people, not
themselves trained in learning
theory or practice, and who likely
had no trouble learning, think that
testing is a necessary and simple
way to check on progress. On the
other hand, I hear from anxious
parents whose children are finding
school difficult because of the tests
and the preparation for them. The
children who have difficulty concern
me. I talk about what I see as the
potential harm of the testing thrust
upon children and their teachers
with anyone who will listen.

From experience, I know how
easy it is to feel bound to prepare
children for tests. So, in order to
help teachers find a different path, I
wrote Honouring the Child: Changing
Ways of Teaching (available through
BCTF lesson aids). In my book, I tell
about how I transformed from one
who began by following a direct
teach, test, grade, rank, and fail
approach to one that was child-
centred, open, and more humane. I
wrote to inspire teachers but the
book has also become a vehicle for
talking about educational topics,
such as testing, with the public as
well.

I have seen that the more all of
their senses are harnessed, the
better the children learn and the
happier they are. My approach
became to allow children to choose
and to engage their minds by
studying topics of interest. I
provided centres for creative activity
and focussed on physical education.
I was following what became the
principles of the Primary Program
that was developed in 1990.
Pamela Proctor
Gibsons

READERS WRITE continued

70 years ago 
The primary teacher can classify

the musical background of each
child as belonging to one of two
groups:

1. Where the child has been
brought up in a musical home. Here
he has been exposed to the best in
music literature, from Mother’s
cradle song to symphonic radio
music. He is encouraged to join in
the family singing and becomes
conscious of his voice as an
instrument.

2. Where music has been an
indifferent sideline. Here he has
been exposed to inferior radio
programs, his sister’s blues singing,
and his brother’s saxophone.

– February 1938, The BC Teacher

50 years ago
If teachers are ever to receive

adequate salaries, two conditions
must be met. Teachers must be
conscious of their worth in society,
and they must be prepared to apply
pressures upon the paying
authorities to convince them that

the teachers will refuse to accept
salaries that do not reflect this
worth. Teachers cannot expect to
get higher pay by wishful thinking.
In fact they may have to act in some
quite unpleasant and disagreeable
ways to realize their economic
hopes. It is only when the alterna -
tive is more unpleasant than the
paying of higher salaries that the
school authorities will pay the
increased rates. It is up to the
teachers to force the issue.

– January 1958, The BC Teacher

30 years ago
Back in the 1950s, Dr. Hilda

Neatby, head of the History Depart -
ment, University of Saskatchewan,
caused a stir in educational circles
across Canada with a book entitled
So Little for the Mind. Since that time
the language arts have been
studied, deliberated, shouted about,
researched, and written about.
Over-zealous university professors
produced studies to show that
Johnny can neither read nor write.
Over-zealous teachers—from Grade
1 to university level—produced

studies to prove that Johnny can
read, write and understand better
and more than students of any
previous generation.

- January/February 1978, 
The BC Teacher

10 years ago
In the spring of 1997 the BCTF,

through a motion passed at its
Annual General Meeting, began
work on one of the most difficult
and controversial social issues it
has ever addressed. We resolved to
work on eliminating homophobia
and heterosexism from BC public
schools. If the experience of
teachers in schools were not
enough to indicate a problem, the
tidal wave of intolerance, bigotry,
and threats of violence that plugged
the Federation’s phone lines and fax
machines before and after the AGM,
verified our concern that homo -
phobia is indeed a social reality.

– January/February 1998, 
Teacher newsmagazine

Chris Bocking, Keating Elementary
School, Saanich.

Looking back

better spent on fighting child
poverty, she added.

She observed the system tends to
“serve adults’ needs but not
children’s.” In her experience as a
court judge, she said “you can
mediate a child’s case without
actually talking to the child.” 

“The voice of the child has to be
heard,” Turpel-Lafond said. “We are
here to serve you.”

“My personal goal is to see the
lives of vulnerable children
improved and a coherent plan for
children in British Columbia that
includes education. Much good
work happens already but we need
to redouble our efforts for vulner -
able children and we need to close
the gaps through what we know
works at the level of the child. I’m
not an expert in education but like
many I’ve met in BC, I know that
education is the key to a better
future for vulnerable children—and
even more importantly, a better
future for their children.”

Janet Nicol is a Vancouver secondary
teacher on leave.

attend ing schools in 1997 to 2005,
only 20% completed Grade 12 in
contrast to 80% of the rest of the
student population in BC. 

“And only a few of the 20% who
finished Grade 12 have academic
requirements to continue their
education,” Turpel-Lafond said.

She said the problems don’t
surface in Grades 9 and 10 as some
people think, but in the pre-school
years. 

“Fifty percent are not ready to
learn when they enter Kinder -
garten,” Turpel-Lafond said. “From
Kindergarten to Grade 4, the more
vulnerable children are not meeting
the standard.” 

“There are accumulative deficits
over this period of time.”

During the post-talk interview,
Turpel-Lafond, reiterated the
importance of the school’s role in
assisting more students to graduate. 

“The secretary, nurse, teacher,
room parent—everyone plays a role.
I have so much respect and
admiration for people who work to
improve the system. My husband
was one of the first generation of
First Nations teachers and in our
professional lives we have worked
closely with educators. BC has
developed innovative programs and
supports for children, which I am
currently studying. However, the
reality is that only 20% of kids in
care graduate. So much more has to
be done.”

MAKING VISIBLE from page 1 And what do educators need to
do to help?

“Support early childhood
education programs for vulnerable
children, inclusion in schools, know
the children,” she answers. “In
many respects keep doing what
they’ve been doing but ramp-up
efforts on the vulnerable kids so
that we all ensure their education is
a primary priority.” 

If Turpel-Lafond could wave her
magic wand to influence our
educational system, she would have
plenty of stardust to sprinkle.

“Collaborate across roles and
with governments and communities
to make it the best system. Keep
excellence in mind and ensure
every child is supported,” she
advised educators. 

Turpel-Lafond said of the
32,000 students in 
govern ment care attending
schools in 1997 to 2005, only
20% completed Grade 12
in contrast to 80% of the 
rest of the student
population in BC.

Her assumptions continue to be
challenged when she talks with
children and youth in BC. 

Turpel-Lafond said her experi -
ence has shown many children
come from environments that are
“hectic and chaotic” and where they
may have disabilities such as Fetal
Alcohol Syndrome. A history of
“benign neglect” by government,
she says, has combined with
successive generations of children
impacted by poverty, scars from
residential schools, and families
that have broken down. The
government must attend to these
issues with “prudent parenting” she
suggested and with “vigilance and
care” to end the abuse and mal -
treat ment of children and youth.

“It is hard to get people to be in
this field,” she acknowledged. “It’s
too traumatic. ...But we have a great
opportunity to improve children’s
outcomes.” 

Turpel-Lafond recently delivered
a report on educational needs,
listing nine recommendations. 

One recommendation asked that
government care of some youths
continue into adult hood. “We have
to change the lens,” she told the
Vancouver audience. “Don’t shut off
these people when they reach 19.”
She warned of an “impact on the
lives of their children” if we don’t
continue assisting.

Turpel-Lafond also said it’s a
“myth” that children in government
care have an advocate in the
educational system. Indeed, the
independent officer’s to-do list
seems endless.

So how are children in care doing
at school? 

Turpel-Lafond said of the 32,000
students in government care

“Fifty percent are not ready
to learn when they enter
Kindergarten… From
Kindergarten to Grade 4, the
more vulnerable children are
not meeting the standard.”

Mary Ellen Turpel-Lafond

As for overall graduation levels
among First Nations students,
Turpel-Lafond said, “I do wonder for
the Aboriginal students in BC, who
are on the whole, only graduating at
47%, how we can break that
plateau? Students continually
identify racism as a barrier and I am
looking into that as well.”

Turpel-Lafond’s findings show
more males than females are in
government care and face more
obstacles, such as special needs
and high drop-out rates.

Why is this?
“That is something I too am

asking,” she replied. “The modality
of ‘treating’ their mental health and
developmental delays with cerebral
stimulants might be one
explanation.” 

“I know that education is the
key to a better future for
vulnerable children—and
even more importantly, a
better future for their
children.”

Mary Ellen Turpel-Lafond

As required by The Society Act,
the following formal notice of
the 2008 Annual General
Meeting is made to all BCTF
members pursuant to By-law 8.1
by publication in this edition of
Teacher.

The 92nd Annual General
Meeting of the British Colum bia
Teachers’ Federa tion will be
held at the Hyatt Regency Hotel,
Vancouver, beginning on
Saturday, March 15, 2008 at
19:00 and continuing to
Tuesday, March 18, 2008.

Notice of
AGM 2008

Plans are also underway to hold
events in other areas, so watch bctf.ca
for specific dates.

You will also be able to access BCTF
Advantage products and services at
the AGM in March.

For more information about the
program, please check it out on the
BCTF website: bctf.ca.

Coming to 
a community 
near you

The launch event of the BCTF
Advantage program at the Federation
office was such a success, we are
taking it on the road. In conjunction
with our administrator of the program,
BCAA, we are planning events in the
following communities:
January Chilliwack, Surrey/Delta
February Penticton, Kelowna, 

Westbank, Vernon
March Richmond
April Nanaimo, Courtney, 

Kamloops, Victoria/Sidney
May Nelson, Prince George, 

North Vancouver

Apologies
On page 3 of the Nov./Dec. issue,

we named the people in the photo -
graph of the Langley Special
Education Inquiry panel incorrectly.
We apologize for any problems this
may have caused.

http://bctf.ca
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Down with homework!
By Alfie Kohn

After spending most of the day in
school, students are given addi -
tional assignments to be completed
at home. This is a rather curious
fact when you stop to think about it,
but not as curious as the fact that
few of us ever stop to think about it.
It’s worth asking not only whether
there are good reasons to support
the nearly universal practice of
assigning homework, but why it’s
so often taken for granted—even by
vast numbers of teachers and
parents who are troubled by its
impact on children.

The mystery deepens once you
discover that widespread assump -
tions about the benefits of home -
work—higher achievement and the
promotion of such virtues as self-
discipline and responsibility—are
not substantiated by the available
evidence.
The status quo 

Taking homework for granted
would be understandable if most
teachers decided from time to time
that a certain lesson really needed
to continue after school was over
and, therefore, assigned students to
read, write, figure out, or do
something at home on those
afternoons.

That scenario, however, bears no
relation to what happens in most
American schools. Rather, the point
of departure seems to be, “We’ve
decided ahead of time that children
will have to do something every
night (or several times a week).
Later on, we’ll figure out what to

make them do.” This commitment
to the idea of homework in the
abstract is accepted by the over -
whelming majority of schools—
public and private, elementary and
secondary. And it really doesn’t
make sense, in part because of
what the research shows:

• There is no evidence to
demon  strate that homework
benefits students below high-school
age. Even if you regard standar -
dized test results as a useful
measure (which I don’t), more
homework isn’t correlated with
higher scores for children in
elemen tary school. The only effect
that does show up is less positive
attitudes on the part of kids who get
more assignments.

• In secondary school, some
studies do find a relationship
between homework and test scores,
but it tends to be small. More
important, there’s no reason to
think that higher achievement is
caused by the homework.

• No study has ever confirmed
the widely accepted assumption
that homework yields non-
academic benefits—self-discipline,
independence, perseverance, or
better time-management skills—for
students of any age. The idea that
homework builds character or
improves study skills is basically a
myth.
Overtime in first grade 

In short, there’s no reason to
think that most students would be
at a disadvantage if homework
were reduced or even eliminated.
Yet the most striking trend in the

past two decades has been the
tendency to pile more and more
assignments on younger and
younger children. (Remember, that’s
the age at which the benefits are
most questionable, if not absent!)

Even school districts that had an
unofficial custom not so long ago of
waiting until the third grade before
giving homework have abandoned
that restraint. A long-term national
survey discovered that the
proportion of six- to eight-year-old
children who reported having
homework on a given day had
climbed from 34% in 1981 to 64% in
2002, and the weekly time they
spent studying at home more than
doubled.

In fact, homework is even
“becoming a routine part of the
Kindergarten experience,”
according to a 2004 report.
The negative effects 

It’s hard to deny that an awful lot
of homework is exceptionally trying
for an awful lot of children. Some
are better able than others to
handle the pressure of keeping up
with a continuous flow of work,
getting it all done on time, and
turning out products that will meet
with approval. Likewise, some
assignments are less unpleasant
than others. But in general, as one
parent put it, homework simul -
taneously “overwhelms struggling
kids and removes joy for high
achievers.” Even reading for
pleasure loses its appeal when
children are told how much, or for
how long, they must do it.

Even as they accept homework as

inevitable, parents consistently
report that it intrudes on family life.
Many mothers and fathers spend
every evening serving as homework
monitors, a position for which they
never applied. One professor of
education, Gary Natriello at
Columbia University, believed in the
value of homework until his “own
children started bringing home
assignments in elementary school.”
Even “the routine tasks sometimes
carry directions that are difficult for
two parents with advanced
graduate degrees to understand,” he
discovered.

What’s bad for parents is
generally worse for kids. “School for
[my son] is work,” one mother
writes, “and by the end of a seven-
hour workday, he’s exhausted. But
like a worker on a double shift, he
has to keep going” once he gets
home. Exhaustion is just part of the
problem, though. The psychological
costs can be substantial for a child
who not only is confused by a
worksheet on long vowels or
subtraction but also finds it hard to
accept the whole idea of sitting still
after school to do more schoolwork. 

Furthermore, every unpleasant
adjective that could be attached to
homework—time-consuming,
disruptive, stressful, demoralizing—
applies with greater force in the
case of kids for whom academic
learning doesn’t come easily. Curt
Dudley-Marling, a former
elementary school teacher who is
now a professor at Boston College,
interviewed some two dozen
families that included at least one
struggling learner. In describing his
findings, he talked about how “the
demands of homework disrupted...
family relationships” and led to daily
stress and conflict. 

The “nearly intolerable burden”
imposed by homework was partly a
result of how defeated such children
felt, he added—how they invested
hours without much to show for it;
how parents felt frustrated when
they pushed the child but also when
they didn’t push, when they helped
with the homework but also when
they refrained from helping. “You
end up ruining the relationship that
you have with your kid,” one father
told him.

And don’t forget: The idea that it
is all worth it because homework
helps children learn better simply
isn’t true. There’s little pro to weigh
against the significant cons.

Playtime matters 
On top of causing stress, more

homework means kids have less
time for other activities. There’s less
opportunity for the kind of learning
that doesn’t involve traditional
skills. There’s less chance to read

for pleasure, make friends, play
games, get some exercise, get some
rest, or just be a child.

Decades ago, the American
Educational Research Association
released this statement: “Whenever
homework crowds out social
experience, outdoor recreation, and
creative activities, and whenever it
usurps time that should be devoted
to sleep, it is not meeting the basic
needs of children and adolescents.”
It is the rare school that respects the
value of those activities—to the
point of making sure that its policies
are informed by that respect. But
some courageous teachers and
innovative schools are taking up the
challenge.
A new approach

There is no traditional homework
at the Bellwether School in
Williston, Vermont, except when the
children ask for it or “are so excited
about a project that they continue to
work on it at home,” says Marta
Beede, the school’s top administra -
tor. “We encourage children to read
at home—books they have
selected.” She and her colleagues
figure that kids “work really hard
when they’re at school. To then say
that they’re going to have to work
more when they get home doesn’t
seem to honour how much energy
they were expending during the
day.” 

Teachers ought to be able to
exercise their judgment in deter -
mining how they want to deal with
homework, taking account of the
needs and preferences of the
specific children in their class -
rooms, rather than having to
conform to a fixed policy that has
been imposed on them.

High-school teacher Leslie
Frothingham watched her own two
children struggle with enormous
quantities of homework in middle
school. The value of it never
seemed clear to her. “What other
‘job’ is there where you work all
day, come home, have dinner, then
work all night,” she asks, “unless
you’re some type-A attorney? It’s
not a good way to live one’s life.
You miss out on self-reflection,
community.” Thus, when she
became a teacher, she chose to
have a no-homework policy.

And if her advanced chemistry
students are thriving academically
without homework, which they are,
surely we can rethink our policies in
the younger grades.

Alfie Kohn is the author of The
Home work Myth.

League tables pressure, 
drives staff to cheat

This article, by Anthea Lipsett, in
The Guardian newspaper, reports on
the extreme pressure of standar -
dized testing on teachers and
students in Britain. “Teachers have
denounced the excessive pressure
government league tables place on
schools to perform, claiming they
drive some staff to cheat... Four
schools had their results wiped out
in all three subjects [English, math
and science]. A fifth school was
stripped of its English results.”

Go to: www.tinyurl.com/2qp5a9

Ontario pins hopes on
practices, not  testing, to
achieve

This excellent article, by Lynn
Olson, in Edweek.org (Education
Week) examines Ontario’s efforts at
improving student achievement in

its schools. “...the province’s
education strategy focusses less on
public ratings and rankings of
schools and more on identifying
and spreading effective practices
from the ground up.” The province
“...provided nearly $34 million to
local school boards for some 250
‘lighthouse projects’—promising
local initiatives that could be
evaluated and spread across the
province if they produced results.”

To register with Education Week,
and get access to the article
(archived at 10/24/2007), go to:
www.tinyurl.com/yusd5w 

Extra playtime shown to 
help preschoolers focus, 
UBC research finds

This very interesting piece by
Chad Skelton, in The Vancouver Sun
examines the research of UBC’s
Adele Diamond, an expert in
“executive function” or EF—the

ability of the brain to control itself.”
The key to improving discipline and
self-control among preschoolers—
and reducing the incidence of
attention-deficit hyperactivity
disorder—lies, in part, says
Diamond, in giving kids more time
to play. A test group of students
were taught a new curriculum
called Tools of the Mind that in -
cludes, among other things, more
play time. The researchers found
that students enrolled in the pro -
gram performed far better at tests

that measured their ability to main -
tain focus and avoid distraction.

For the full article go to:
www.tinyurl.com/2vm127

Five assessment myths and
their consequences

The article, by Rick Stiggins, in
Edweek.org (Education Week) starts
off with the claim: “America has
spent 60 years building layer upon
layer of district, state, national, and
international assessments at
immense cost and with little
evidence that our assessment
practices have improved learning.”

Stiggins then examines what he
considers to be five myths about
achievement: (1) The path to school
improvement is paved with
standardized tests. (2) School and
community leaders know how to
use assessment to improve schools.
(3) Teachers are trained to assess
productively. (4) Adult decisions

drive school effectiveness. (5)
Grades and test scores maximize
student motivation and learning. 

To register with Education Week,
and get access to the article
(archived at 10/17/2007), go to:
www.tinyurl.com/yusd5w

Lansing Christian School
parents open store to 
fund pay raises

Some parents, at Lansing
Christian School in Michigan, have
opened a thrift store with the
intention of donating proceeds to
fund a pay increase for the school’s
53 teachers. Christian Schools
suggests private Christian schools
have a starting salary of $31,000,
increasing to $60,000 after 30 years.
At LCS the starting salary is
$27,000, with the chance of making
$40,000 after 30 years. 

For full story go to:
http://tinyurl.com/257aun

Agree? Disagree? More to add?
Send us your views and we may
print them in the next issue. Send
to: newsmag@bctf.ca

http://tinyurl.com/2qp5a9
http://Edweek.org
http://tinyurl.com/yusd5w
http://tinyurl.com/2vm127
http://edweek.org
http://tinyurl.com/yusd5w
http://tinyurl.com/257aun
mailto:newsmag@bctf.ca
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By Vicki Stuart

Rochester Elementary is a K–5
school situated on the west side of
Coquitlam. It is a dual-track school
with an enrolment of 368 students
for the 2007–08 school year—219
students in the English program and
149 students enrolled in French
immersion. Recently, our school has
welcomed students from two
nearby schools that have been
closed—Vanier and Millside. This
has had a positive affect on the
culture of the school as our new
students and families have added
new perspectives, ideas, and
enthusiasm.

Over the past four years, one of
our school goals has been to focus
on social responsibility by improv -
ing students’ skills in contributing to
the classroom and school com -
munity. Some of our monthly
themes have been caring, respect, a
sense of belonging, and diversity.
We teach these values through
assemblies, direct classroom
instruction, leadership groups, and
daily school-wide announcements.
The crochet project has been one

way that students at Rochester have
been able to achieve and/or work
toward this goal.

Over 100 students are involved in
the school-wide activity of crochet -
ing. Interested students are invited
to get together during noon hour to
learn the basic crochet stitch in
order to complete their scarves. We
are making scarves for the home -
less and giving them to Share, a
local community service agency in
the Tri-City area.

others.”
It is amazing to see the support

that parents have given the project.
This has come by way of donations
of wool and crochet hooks. Also
mothers and grand mothers have
been making scarves themselves
and donating them to the project.
Parents have been thrilled that their
children are learning how to crochet
and that they are donating their
scarves to people in need. One of
our parents remarked, “My child is
learning patience during this
project.”

Enthusiasm for this project has
continued to grow as new students
join the crochet club. Today we
have completed over 50 beautiful
scarves for the homeless. The
students and families at Rochester
Elementary have made an amazing
contribution to the Coquitlam
community. As the need is elo -
quently highlighted by one of the
students, “I like making scarves for
the homeless because in the winter
it is very cold and the homeless can
die and they’re people too.”

Vicki Stuart teaches at Rochester 
Elementary School, Coquitlam.

By Tricia Edgar

In this age of stranger danger and
dwindling open spaces, children
interact with video screens more
than natural places. Natural places
are inaccessible to children. Vacant
lots are fenced off. Children are
asked to stay inside after school to
stay safe, or they have no time for
free, unstructured play.

In his book, Last Child in the
Woods, Richard Louv talks about
this phenomenon, calling it “nature-
deficit disorder.” The journalist
interviewed 3,000 families about the
changing nature of childhood, and
what he found inspired him to write
a book that explores the need for
children to connect with nature. It
became a bestseller.

We are born needing to connect
with other life, whether this life is a
pet, a garden, or a forest. Heading
outside is healthy for our physical,
mental, and emotional well-being.
American biologist Edward Wilson
has named this affinity for other life
“biophilia.” 

Unfortunately, today many of us
connect nature with fear. Fear of
the unknown. Fear of extinction and
climate change. Fear for our future.
In our classrooms, how do we build
on children’s desire to connect with
other life? How do we face fear and
move into positive action? When we
teach ecological literacy, we can do
both of these things and we teach
about how nature works. 

Imagine a classroom that fosters
a sense of wonder for the natural
world and encourages children to
explore that world, both freely and
as part of structured projects. 

This classroom would foster joy
in our relationship with the rest of
nature and encourage students to
have an ongoing relationship with
natural places, whether these are a
corner of an urban schoolyard or a
wilderness area. 

Together, teachers and students
would learn that they rely on nature
and that they are part of nature.
This classroom would provide a
foundation so that students can
inquire, learn, and grow as life-long
citizens of the planet.

Literacy is about teaching
building blocks—letters, words—so
that early readers can comprehend
written language. However, the
objective is not only to yield people

who know how to identify words.
The objective is also to create a life-
long love of reading. We teach
literacy so that our students yearn
to ask questions and find answers
and learn about their place in the
world.

The same is true for ecological
literacy. Through ecological literacy,
children and adults grow to
understand nature and their place
in nature. We foster connections
with nature and encourage people
to move beyond fear to explore,
learn, and act on their knowledge.

Why ecoliteracy? So our children
can walk into a forest and feel a
joyful connection with that place.

Resources 
• Last Child in the Woods, Richard
Louv. A look at the importance of
nature in childhood, exploring ways
to renew connections between
children and natural places.
• Sharing Nature with Children and
Sharing the Joy of Nature, Joseph
Cornell. Activities that inspire
reconnection with nature.
• “Environmental Learning and
Experience,” David Zandvliet
(Simon Fraser University) and
Richard Kool (Royal Roads Univer -
sity). A new document that shows
how environmental learning con -
nects with the BC curriculum.
www.bced.gov.bc.ca/environment_ed
• Environmental Educators’
Provincial Specialist Association
(EEPSA). Supporting leadership and
curriculum for environmental
education. bctf.ca/eepsa
• Environmental Educators of
British Columbia (EEBC). A network
of formal and informal environ -
mental educators in BC. www.
environmentaleducatorsbc.ca/
index.cfm
• Nature-Child Reunion. A BC
group whose goal is to renew the
relationship between children and
nature. www.naturechildreunion.ca
• Walking the Talk: The BC
Network for Sustainability
Education. A network that links
formal and informal sustainability
educators in BC.
www.walkingthetalk.bc.ca

Tricia Edgar connects people with
natural places through her work with
Turning Leaf Consulting (www.turn-
ingleafconsulting.ca) and the Lynn
Canyon Ecology Centre.

The helping hands 
crochet project

“I like making scarves for the
homeless because in the
winter it is very cold and the
homeless can die and they’re
people too.”

Rochester student

During the crochet times,
students listen to classical music
and have the opportunity to chat
with classmates to get to know
others in the school. Students have
been responsible in working with
one another during these times and
offering support and skills. As one
student notes, “I like helping

Neither the BC College of
Teachers, nor the Ministry of
Advanced Education, nor the
universities seem willing to
acknowledge or accept
responsibility for teacher
oversupply.

professor and associate dean, went
so far as to forward an e-mail
containing meeting minutes of the
Teacher Supply & Demand Consort -
ium (which, interestingly, were also
addressed to Laura Bickerton and
other representatives of the BC
College of Teachers). The minutes,
however, contained no mention of
teacher oversupply, and Echols
failed to respond to my follow-up
questions. And when I addressed
my concerns to David Blades,
associate dean of Teacher
Education at UVic, he responded
with a non sequitur: “very few of

Why ecoliteracy?

The teacher shortage:
myth or reality?
By Patrik Parkes

There are so many critical and
urgent education issues facing the
K–12 system these days—class size,
class composition, standardized
testing—that there seems little
energy left over for other questions.
But they are out there, and I have
one: Why, when the annual demand
has been for only 600 to 1,200 new
teachers across British Columbia,
have the province’s teacher-training
programs been producing, each
year, between 1,800 and 2,000 new
graduates?

The above figures, derived from
statistics published in the Nov./Dec.
2006 issue of the Teacher, seem to
confirm something I have long
suspected—there are far too many
certified teachers for the jobs
actually available. Furthermore, as
indicated by Ministry of Education
teacher statistics, there is no danger
of a sudden mass retirement, and
therefore no need to oversupply
teaching certificates. In 2006–07, BC
public school teachers’ average
years of experience was 13.4, and in

all five-year groupings between the
ages of 35 and 59, the teacher
population is stable at about 6,000
(give or take a thousand). In other
words, through retirement, teachers
will be leaving the system at the
rate of about 1,200 teachers a
year—far less than the 1,800 to
2,000 education graduates currently
being supplied to the system each
year. Add to this declining student
enrolment, and the demand for new
teachers is even less.

…through retirement,
teachers will be leaving the
system at the rate of about
1,200 teachers a year—far
less than the 1,800 to 2,000
education graduates
currently being supplied…

Supply-and-demand issues
concern me because, since being
certified as a teacher, I have been
an itinerant worker, much of the
time overseas as an economic
“refugee.” To be honest, I didn’t
mind working overseas, but much

of the reason I did so was that I
could not find full-time, continuing
employment as a teacher in BC. And
I know I’m not alone. Nevertheless,
despite obvious factors such as
teacher oversupply and declining
student enrolment, I keep hearing
that a teacher shortage is just
around the corner. Is there some
information I am missing?

Thinking that the BC College of
Teachers, which accredits provincial
training programs, might have some
insight into this matter, I spoke with
Laura Bickerton, the college’s
director of Professional Education. I
asked her if the college has any
plans to solve the apparent problem
of teacher oversupply. Bickerton
replied that, through the Teaching
Profession Act, the college has no
authority over the number of seats
that are granted in teacher-training
programs. She indicated that
funding for university seats is done
through the Ministry of Advanced
Education and Training, and
suggested I contact them. The
ministry, however, also denied any
responsibility. Their response was
that “institutions themselves are
best able to determine the programs
and enrolment levels that will...
address labour market needs.” 

Wondering if BC’s teacher-
training programs give any thought
to supply-and-demand issues, I
decided to ask Meguido Zola,

director of Profession al Programs at
SFU’s Faculty of Education. In a
rather terse e-mail message he
responded that “there is an inter-
university committee on teacher
supply and demand...I don’t know
how to access it but ask around”
[sic]. Fortunately, UBC’s Faculty of
Educational Studies was more
helpful. Frank Echols, associate

our students leave the program...the
rest are all successful and graduates
that I’m proud to welcome to the
profession.”

While I don’t doubt the warmth
and sincerity of Blade’s feelings
toward his charges, the statistical
reality is that—try as they might—
many of them will never work in
their intended profession, in their
own province. Blades, like the other
figures of authority I contacted, is
seemingly oblivious to the ethics of
taking education students’ time and
money for certification that may, in
the end, be worthless. 

In my attempt to question or to
find some rationale for teacher
oversupply, my concerns were not
taken seriously by any of the above
actors I talked to. And, unfortun -
ately, I believe that teachers have
been complacent on the issue of
teacher oversupply—a situation that
devalues our certification, and
creates injustice for new teachers. 

Neither the BC College of
Teachers, nor the Ministry of
Advanced Education, nor the
universities seem willing to
acknowledge or accept responsi -
bility for teacher oversupply. It is
time to start asking serious
questions, and to put this issue on
the radar. 

Patrik Parkes is a teacher on call,
Burnaby School District.

http://www.bced.gov.bc.ca/environment_ed
http://bctf.ca/eepsa
http://www.environmentaleducatorsbc.ca/index.cfm
http://www.naturechildreunion.ca
http://www.walkingthetalk.bc.ca
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By Claudia Ferris

Stories about toxins in toys,
water bottles, and cosmetics are
increasingly being covered by the
news media in Canada. Teachers,
students, and parents looking for
science-based, practical information
about how to reduce their exposure
to toxins in the environment have a
variety of new resources to access.
You can download and print the
latest toxin-free school materials
created by the Labour Environmen -
tal Alliance Society (LEAS) from our
website at www.leas.ca.

These new school materials and
interactive workshops explain why
low-dose exposure to toxins harm
the health of humans and the
environment. There are more than
85,000 synthetic chemicals
registered for use in North America
and the average citizen carries a
body burden of 100 toxic chemicals.
These learning resources look at
this chemical trespass, while
educating communities about how
to protect themselves from it.

Students learn about the
workplace health and safety rights
that labour organizations have
successfully fought for, comparing
them to the lack of rights that
consumers have in dealing with
toxic substances. Lesson plans and
worksheets encourage students to
speak up for their rights, with a
sample students’ environmental bill
of rights and a practical planner for
how to organize presentations
effectively.

The Ecosystem Earth component
includes games and information
about the interconnections within
an ecosystem and how introduced
chemicals can migrate and bio-
accumulate. The concept of the

precautionary principle, or hazard-
based policy management, is
illustrated through a number of
exercises, including one based on
BC fish farms.

The standard, industry-preferred,
risk-management policy is explored
through examples of how toxic
chemicals used in products can be
determined to be safe because,
although some studies show they
cause developmental and other
adverse health effects in animal

Useful web-based research
resources, such as Scorecard,
WHIMIS, and Canadian Environ -
mental Protection Agency (CEPA),
are provided.

A school toxin checklist takes
students and teachers through what
chemicals they may be exposed to
in the playground and in cleaning
products and pesticides used in
some schools. In older buildings,
exposure to asbestos and lead in
water pipes may be an issue.
Chemicals used in science labs,
shops, and art classes are identified,
and we explain how to follow the
MSDS sheets in order to handle any
toxic chemicals safely, and how to
substitute them where possible.
This checklist takes learners
through the more common problem
areas, sharing what schools around
the province have found and what
can be done to reduce the health
risk from these environmental
exposures. 

The key learning outcomes of
these materials are matched to
secondary school curricula from
Grades 8 through 12 including;
Science 8 (Applications of Science),
Science 9 (Biology & Life Science),
and Personal Development 9
through 12 (Healthy Living). For
Socials 8 through 11, the materials
assist students to research, define,
and present an issue or problem,
and work collaboratively to
implement a course of action that
addresses a problem.

Using current environmental
issues to frame problems and
solutions can engage students in
active global citizenship. If students
wish to apply this experience by
volunteering in the community or
developing a personal portfolio,
they can make use of our Chemical
Trespass Action Kit. Practical Infor -
mation about endocrine disrupting
chemicals called phthalates, found
in plastics, water bottles, and many
cosmetics, can help students make
sure they are not unknowingly
adding to their own body burden of
toxic chemicals.

It wouldn’t have been possible for
LEAS to put together these mater -
ials and information without the
direct sponsorship of foundations,

and environmental and labour
organi zations. LEAS would like to
thank the members, staff, and
Executive of the BC Teachers’
Federation for its ongoing support
for our research and publications.
We have just published a 3.0
version of our popular CancerSmart
Consumer Guide, which can be
ordered from our website for those
who want to know what’s in the
products they use around the home.
Our research is not funded by
industry or manu facturers, so we
rely entirely on sales of our guide,
individual donors, and support from
progres sive organizations like the
BCTF. Together, we are making a
difference—at home, in the media,
and in our schools.

Claudia Ferris, communications,
Labour Environmental Alliance
Society (LEAS).

Teaching kids about 
the toxins around them

There are more than 
85,000 synthetic chemicals
registered for use in North
America and the average
citizen carries a body burden
of 100 toxic chemicals.

studies, human health risk has not
been fully determined. With risk-
based management policies, the
onus is on the consumer to prove
that there is a negative health
impact, instead of ensuring that the
manufacturer is only using proven
safe ingredients. 

We look at the link between
carcin ogens from cigarettes and
cancer, and how risk-based
manage ment deemed this product
to be safe until it was conclusively
proven otherwise. Students will also
learn about endocrine disrupting
chemicals, reproductive toxins, and
neurotoxins in products commonly
used in the community. A review of
material safety data sheets shows
how workers can protect
themselves from these toxic
chemicals, and how we extend this
knowledge to protect ourselves
from these chemicals in the home
and in personal-care products.

Notice to teachers 
Were you disciplined by the
BC College of Teachers prior
to July 1, 2007?

Legislation passed by the
provincial government requires the
BC College of Teachers to establish
an online registry of college disci -
pline. This registry will include the
names of college members and a
record of reprimands, suspen sions,
and terminations imposed by the
college. The legislation took effect
July 1, 2007.  

The college has filed a petition in
the BC Supreme Court for a deter -
mination regarding whether or not
the registry is retroactive. In
particular, the college has asked the
court whether the registry must
include:
• discipline imposed by the college

prior to July 1, 2007.
• discipline where the college pre-

viously ordered that the teacher’s
name not be publicized.

• discipline of teachers who ceased
to be members of the college
prior to July 1, 2007.
If any of these issues affect you,

please communicate your concerns
to the BCTF legal department by
telephone (604-871-2283 or toll free
1-800-663-9163), fax (604-871-
2288) or e-mail gbrown@bctf.ca,
prior to February 20, 2008.  

Please note that the new online
discipline registry applies to
discipline by the BC College of
Teachers only and will not include
any employer discipline.

Class size and
composition
reports released

The ministry has posted the
class-size and class-composition
reports for every school in the
province as of September 2007.
They are available at:
http://tinyurl.com/2j6lfe.

The information is provided on
an aggregate basis for the school
district, as well as for each class in
each school. Secondary schools are
reported by class subject and
elementary schools are reported by
division.

The information on the reports
includes:
• the number of students in each

class and the number of classes
with more than 30.

• the number of students in each
class entitled to an IEP.

• average class sizes.
• number of education assistants

assigned to each class.
• number of students identified as

gifted.
• number of students who are

identified for ESL/ESD service.

Educating for a better world
By Denise Wrathall 

Held annually, International
Development Week (February 3–9,
2008) raises awareness of Canada’s
role in the international develop -
ment community. This year the BC
Council for International Cooper -
ation (BCCIC) would like to highlight
the vital connections between
education and international
develop ment—part of the push for a
better world. BCCIC is a coalition of
non-governmental organizations
(NGO) operating locally and global -
ly, to achieve sustainable human
development. The council is com -
mitted to international co-operation
in two ways: by sup porting the work
of our membership and by promot -
ing and mobilizing British Colum -
bians as active global citizens. As
with our sister councils across
Canada, our work is under taken
with the financial support of the
Government of Canada provided
through the Canadian International
Development Agency (CIDA). 

For many Canadians, their first
thoughts of education and interna -
tional development are of projects
overseas. Globally, only 5% of the
average national budget is spent on
education, compared to 13% for
health and 11% for military; 115
million children of primary-school
age worldwide do not attend
school. This makes collaboration
between schools and not-for-profits
essential. 

HOPE International Development
Agency, one of BCCIC’s larger
member organizations, provides
assistance—from school fees, to
meals, to teacher training—to

ensure that Indigenous children in
rural Philippines can attend school
and as adults, have the opportunity
to choose an occupation that will
provide self-reliance and freedom
from extreme poverty. The Maria-
Helena Foundation, a small family
foundation, supports education for
children of poor families in Pakistan
through both informal schools in
homes and community centres, and
by building schools, which are run
by local partners. The foundation is
an excellent example of a Canadian
immigrant giving back. “As a stu -
dent, I benefited from outside
support for my education, and I am
happy to be able to give back”, says
Dr. Muhammad Iqbal, Maria-
Helena’s founder. ACCES—the
African Canadian Continuing Edu -
ca tion System—supports primary
education for impoverished youth in
Kenya, who are unable to enter the
public school system because they
are heads of households, AIDS
orphans, or living in extreme
poverty. High-achieving children
have the opportunity to continue
their education. Over the last few
years, ACCES, which was founded
in the Lower Mainland, has shifted
from an organization run entirely by
volunteers, to one with 1.5 staff.
These three BCCIC members work
closely with the local school system,
using government curriculum in
private schools, or supporting
children to attend government
schools. 

Canadians enjoy excellent quality
and access to education, but a 2006
youth opinion poll indicated that
while most Canadian youth feel that
they can make a difference in the
world, 40 to 50% are not familiar

with developing world debt, are
unable to name a country where
human rights abuses take place, or
cannot name an NGO that is active
in addressing global issues. To
address this gap, NGOs and the
schools collaborate on global
education, to ensure that Canadians
can take on their responsibilities as
global citizens. 

The Social Justice Group at
Okanagan Mission Secondary
School (OKM) in Kelowna is one
example of such collaboration. This
group meets after school and during
lunch hour, exploring global and
humanitarian issues led by teacher
sponsor Katie Wilson. 

Develop ment Goals, for a chance to
win $1,000 to begin their project.
Thanks to groups like the one at
OKM and their adult allies, enthusi -
asm for global education in
Kelowna has grown into this new
district-wide initiative.

VIDEA (Victoria International
Development Education Associa -
tion) has been working with groups
like the one at OKM and teachers
like Wilson for 30 years, creating
teacher-friendly resources and
animating them with interactive
workshops in the Victoria area. 

VIDEA’s newest project, called
Education for all? Global Citizenship
and Tools for Schools, will provide
an interactive learning resource to
explore the importance of education
in international development. The
resource will draw on the experi -
ence of their Africa Program and
ongoing partnerships in Western
Zambia.

This International Development
Week, let’s remember all the folks—
teachers, students, NGO partners,
and funders—both in Canada and
abroad, who make this work pos -
sible. Basic education is a corner -
stone of sustainable development.
For sustainable development to be a
reality, we need both universal
primary education, and Canadians
who understand global issues. 

Denise Wrathall, BC Council for
International Cooperation.

• Look for activities across BC during
International Develop ment Week,
February 3–9, 2008.

• Web links for all BCCIC member
organizations are at www.bccic.ca. 

Brian Galbraith, New Westminster Secondary School

International Development
Week is February 3–9, 2008.

The group first focussed their
efforts toward the children of
Northern Uganda, organizing
Kelowna’s first GULU Walk (named
after a town in Northern Uganda) to
raise awareness (and over $3,800)
of children in Uganda at risk of
becom ing child soldiers. The group
has raised over $25,000 in the last
14 months for the GULU Walk,
Spread the Net, and the Stephen
Lewis Foundation.  Their next effort
will be a musical school sleepover,
called “Keep the Beat” in support of
War Child Canada, including music
from the school’s Fine Arts
Department and local bands. 

The group will also be competing
in the district-wide Millennium
Development Scholarship Challenge
in March, where they will present a
development proposal addressing
one of the eight Millennium

http://www.leas.ca
http://tinyurl.com/2j6lfe
http://www.bccic.ca
mailto:gbrown@bctf.ca
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By Stacey Kemp

Did you know that according to
the most recent numbers available
from Statistics Canada (2005) that
British Columbia, for the fourth year
in a row, had the highest child
poverty rate in at 20.9%, well above
the national rate of 16.8%. In 2005,
there were an estimated 174,000 BC
children living in poverty. That was
more than the populations of the
cities of Victoria, Nanaimo, and
Comox combined. Census figures
also show that Aboriginal children
living off reserves have a poverty
rate that is almost twice as large as
non-Aboriginal children. This
number would be significantly
higher if the 20,000 children living
on reserves were included in the
statistics. This is disgraceful and
teachers need to take a stand and
speak up for our students.

What is the definition of child
poverty? According to Statistics
Canada’s Low Income Cut-Off
(LICO) a family is considered to be
living in “straightened circum -
stances” (defined as spending a
disproportionate amount of their
total gross income on food, shelter,
and clothing) if they spend 54.3% of
their income on these three items.
Most low-income families have
gross incomes significantly below
the poverty line with many of those
working at minimum-wage jobs. In

fact, the vast majority of poor
children in BC live in families with
some earned income and over half
live in families where at least one
person has a full-time job.

As teachers, we see the effects of
poverty on children on a daily basis
in our classrooms. How can we
expect a child to come to school
ready to learn when they have not
had breakfast? Single men used to
be the number one users of food
banks but it is increasingly becom -
ing families and children. Food
banks may be necessary for
emergency needs, but they were
never intended to serve as part of a
family’s regular sustenance. 

The BC government has begun a
number of programs such as
ReadNow BC and StrongStart
because, according to its own
statistics, one in four children are
starting school without the
necessary skills to succeed. It is no
coincidence that these numbers
correspond to the poverty rates. Yet
the government has made no
comment on the link between
poverty and children starting school
without the necessary skills. 

The stated purpose of these
StrongStart centres is to “offer free
drop-in programs for parents or
caregivers and their children,
helping preschool-age children
develop pre-reading skills and get
ready for Kindergarten.” But this
program does little to help children

living in poverty because a require -
ment of StrongStart is for a parent
to accompany the child to the
centre each day they attend. Many
parents are often working and can’t
accompany their children. 

Even if a parent is not working,
there is a very good chance they
would not be aware of the program.
Unfortunately, many of these
families are disconnected from the
school community due to their own
difficult circumstances. If a program
such as this is going to reach
children living in poverty, those
children need to be identified and
given assistance to attend.  

The ReadNow BC website has a
great deal of information regarding
literacy and is designed to assist
those with low literacy rates so they
can navigate it. But once again, this
information is not readily accessible
to families living in poverty, as
many do not have access to the
Internet. 

Children living in poverty start
school with many disadvantages in
addition to chronic hunger. Accord -
ing to the research, poor children
are twice as likely as non-poor
children to repeat a grade, be sus -
pended from school, or drop out.
They are 1.3 times as likely to have
a developmental delay or learning
disability and require special
education services. Poor children
are 9.9 times more likely to have
experienced hunger. These difficul -

ties translate into the classroom
where teachers are more likely to
assess poor children as poor
students with more academic and
behaviour problems. Poor children
are also more likely to be: hyper -
active, suffer from emotional dis -
orders, exhibit disorderly conduct,
get into trouble with the law, be in
the care of child welfare services,
and engage in risky behaviour.

As teachers we play a critical role
in helping these children be suc -
cess ful in school and thus in life,
and we need to examine our
attitudes toward families and
children living in poverty.  

In 1989, members of all parties in
the House of Commons unani -
mously agreed to seek to eliminate
child poverty by the year 2000.
Unfortunately, since that time the
BC child poverty rates have moved
well above the national average and
for the fourth year in a row are the
highest in Canada.  

So what can individual teachers
(or local teacher associations and
unions) do? You can contact your
MP to let them know it is time for
them to deliver on the promise they
made in 1989. You can contact your
MLA and tell the provincial govern -
ment to end provincial clawbacks
for families living on social assis -
tance and increase minimum wage
to $10/hour with future increases in
line with the cost of living each
year. The $6/hour training wage
should be eliminated. BC needs to
have a poverty reduction plan with
a commitment to reduce the poverty
rate in BC. We also need to advo -
cate on all levels for universal
access to high quality childcare.

There are a number of good
organizations working to end child
poverty in BC and many of them
have campaigns aimed at making a
difference. You can visit:
www.makepovertyhistory.ca to get
involved in a nationwide White
Band Campaign to end poverty and
visit www.campaign2000.ca or
www.firstcallbc.org to read more
about the impacts of poverty. The
BCTF website also has information
on poverty and suggestions for
teachers at bctf.ca/SocialJustice.
aspx?id=6308. 

Together we can make a
difference!

Stacey Kemp teaches at Wiltse 
Elementary School, Penticton, and 
is a member of BCTF Social Justice
Antipoverty Action Group.

Canada’s rich not
contributing fair
share in taxes

More than a decade’s worth of
tax cuts have disproportionately
lined the pockets of Canada’s most
affluent families, says a new tax
study by the Canadian Centre for
Policy Alternatives (CCPA). 

The study finds the top 1% of
families in 2005 paid a lower total
tax rate than the bottom 10% of
families.

“Canada’s tax system now fails a
basic test of fairness,” says Marc
Lee, senior economist with the
CCPA’s BC office and author of the
study. “Tax cuts have contributed to
a slow and steady shift to a less
progressive tax system in Canada.” 

The study, which is the first
comprehensive review of tax
changes at all levels of government
in Canada within the past 15 years,
finds the system is delivering larger
tax savings for high-income
families. This reinforces the
growing gap in market incomes
between high-income families and
the rest of Canadians.

“Most Canadians will be surprised
by these findings because they
believe we have a progressive tax
system—but looking at all taxes
combined, that’s no longer the
case.”

The study, “Eroding Tax Fairness:
Tax Incidence in Canada, 1990 to
2005,” reveals that:
• Provincial tax cuts are the key

culprit for the increasingly
regressive nature of Canada’s tax
system but the problem has been
exacerbated at the federal level
with billions of dollars worth of
post-2000 tax cuts.

• The richest 1% of taxpayers saw
their tax rate drop by four per-
centage points between 1990 and
2005.

• Most Canadians saw their tax
rate fall by two percentage points
of income, but not so for the
poorest 20% of taxpayers, who
pay three to five percentage
points more in taxes.

• Middle-income families pay
about six percentage points more
in total taxes than a family in the
top 1%.
To download the whole report go

to: www.tinyurl.com/ywdqra.

10,580 homeless in BC
A survey conducted by Opposi -

tion Critic for Homelessness, David
Chudnovsky, shows that there are a
minimum of 10,580 homeless
people in BC. Front-line workers
across the province, in more than
60 municipalities, reported on their
local situations.

Chudnovsky wrote to the Minister
Responsible for Homelessness, Rich
Coleman, asking for government
figures on homelessness. When no
response was received,
Chudnovsky’s office took on the
task of contacting cities and
municipalities across the province.
City Homeless Count*
Abbotsford 400
Armstrong 0

Burnaby 180
Campbell River 35
Castlegar/Trail 10
Chetwynd 30
Comox Valley 200
Cowichan Valley (Duncan) 200
Cranbrook 50
Dawson Creek 100
Delta** 11
Fernie 20
Fort Saint James 125
Fort Saint John 100
Fraser Valley 
(Hope, Chilliwack, Mission) 184

Grand Forks 30
Hazelton 0
Houston 20
Kamloops 300

Kelowna 279
Kitimat 0
Langley 100
Lillooet 20
Lower Sunshine Coast 200
Mackenzie 0
Maple Ridge/Pitt Meadows 80
Merritt/Princeton 30
Nanaimo 225
Nelson 250
New Westminster** 92
North Shore 200
Oliver 100
Osoyoos 20
Parksville/Qualicum 10
Penticton 130
Port Alberni 112
Port Hardy & Port McNeil 75
Powell River N/A
Prince George 1,050
Prince Rupert 80
Queen Charlotte Islands 50
Quesnel 140
Richmond** 33
Salmon Arm/
Sicamous/Enderby 100

Saltspring 23
Smithers 50
Squamish & surrounding area 200
Summerland N/A
Surrey** 371
Terrace 35
Tri Cities 200
Vancouver 2,300
Vanderhoof N/A
Vernon 150
Victoria 1550

Whistler & surrounding area 200
Williams Lake 130
100 Mile House 0
TOTAL 10,580

*Except when otherwise noted, these
numbers are estimates provided by
front-line workers who deal with

homelessness in each community on a
daily basis. In many cases, they have
given assurances that the numbers are
minimum estimates.
**The numbers for these metro
Vancouver municipalities are taken from
the outdated 2005 count. In all other
metro municipalities the number of

homeless since that time has increased
by a minimum of 78%. If we were to
project that minimum increase on these
four municipalities, it would increase the
total by 891.

For detailed survey results, please
visit www.davidchudnovsky.bc.ca.

Child poverty: 
BC’s shameful first-place finish

http://www.makepovertyhistory.ca
http://www.campaign2000.ca
http://www.firstcallbc.org
http://bctf.ca/socialjustice.aspx?id=6308
http://tinyurl.com/ywdqra
http://davidchudnovsky.bc.ca
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Kyoto:
a New Year’s 
resolution
By Hugh Robertson 

“Kyoto is dead. Long live Kyoto.”
To give the old monarchical adage a
modern ring, Kyoto in one sense is
dead. It was killed not only by the
recent decision of our government,
but also by the collective inaction of
all of us over the past decade.
However, Kyoto lives. It lives in
spirit because it is still the only
international agreement attempting
to rescue future generations from
environmental chaos. Kyoto also
lives because it is possible for us to
achieve our reductions in green -
house gases by the end of the target
period in 2012.

Kyoto actually commits us to
reductions every year for the next
five years. At this late stage, how -
ever, it is impossible to cut our
greenhouse gases to 6% below our
1990 level in the next 12 months.
But if we can reach our target by the
end of 2012, the world will be
cheering because few other
countries will meet their pledges.

The major greenhouse gases
(carbon dioxide, methane, and
nitrous oxide) are created mainly by
the extraction, refining, and burning
of fossil fuels, such as oil, coal, and
natural gas. The refined products
are used primarily for energy, such
as electricity, transportation, and
heating. Increases in Canada’s
greenhouse gas emissions are due
largely to oil and natural gas
production, particularly exports to
the US. In addition, transportation
emissions have ballooned because
of the growth of truck freight and
sales of SUVs and light trucks.

The Kyoto Protocol requires
Canada to reduce its 1990 green -
house gas emissions of 600 mega -
tonnes by 6% to a total of 563
megatonnes. Our present emissions
stand at 750 megatonnes, which is
35% above our Kyoto commitment.
To simplify these stratospheric sta -
tistics, we have converted our
present greenhouse gas total in
megatonnes to an average per
capita figure for each Canadian. The
latest estimate from Environment
Canada places our overall per

capita greenhouse gas emissions at
approximately 24 tonnes per
individual Canadian.

Roughly one-quarter, about 6
tonnes, is directly attributable to
activities that are an integral part of
our personal lifestyles—heating and
cooling our homes, appliance use,
heating water, lighting, food con -
sumption, water and sewage, waste
disposal, and driving. If 6 tonnes of
the pre sent overall average of 24
tonnes is directly attributable to our
personal life styles, then we have to
trim our individual share of
emissions to 4.5 tonnes each—an
eminently doable target.

The necessary lifestyle changes
will be as much behavioural as
technological. For example, initiat -
ing a war on waste is neither
inconvenient nor expensive. It is
estimated that half our electricity is
wasted, half the food produced is
squandered, and half of our garbage
is biodegradable and should never
end up in a landfill. Megatonnes of
harmful gases could be saved by
simple conservation at no financial
cost to individual Canadians.

We need to establish baseline
consumption figures before the end
of December to measure our pro -
gress. Calculate your consumption
of electricity, natural gas, gasoline
and water. Most utility bills provide
a consumption history or alterna -
tively phone the utilities and request
the figures for 2007.

Pledging to cut your energy
consumption, and, thereby, your
greenhouse-gas emissions,
gradually but systematically over
the next five years is an heroic
undertaking. Set yourself a reduc -
tion target of 5% per year.  

Listed below are the major
categories where we will need to
focus our individual reduction
efforts. Quantifying our consump -
tion in all of these activities may not
be as easy as reading a meter. But
we can all pledge to restrict our
purchases of goods and services
that have a negative impact on the
environment.

It is beyond the limits of this
article to list all the possible means
of conserving resources in these
categories. A separate article could
be written on each category.
However, a profusion of conserva -
tion ideas can be found in books,
newspapers, magazines, and on
numerous websites. 

Develop strategies from your
reading and searching and list them

under these category headings.
Share and brainstorm ideas with
neighbours and circulate these
ideas and suggestions in your
community. Although leading by
personal example is crucial in
combating climate change, building
community support for sustainable
living will help unleash a country-
wide groundswell that is essential
to achieve our Kyoto target.
• Driving: Approximately half our

personal greenhouse gases are
generated by driving.

• Heating: Close to 30% of our 
personal emissions result from
heating our homes.

• Cooling: Air conditioning over-
burdens our electricity system,
partly coal-fired, in the summer.

• Cooking: Both electrical and gas-
fired cooking appliances increase
greenhouse gases.

• Heating water: Investigate pre-
heating devices for warming
water.

• Water: Municipalities spend half
their electrical operating budgets
on water and sewage treatment. 

• Lighting: Replace incandescent
light bulbs with compact fluores-
cent light bulbs.

• Food: Eating locally produced
food can shave 20% off your
greenhouse gas total.

• Waste: You could save another
20% with one small bag of
garbage per month.

• Shopping: Consider the environ-
mental burden of every purchase
you make.

• Flying: Fly only for family—”love
miles” in the words of George
Monbiot.
Kyoto is a journey that starts in

the hearts and minds of individual
Canadians, not in cabinet meetings
and corporate boardrooms and the
corridors of bureaucratic power. Let
us live our values, let us initiate
lifestyle changes one step at a time
and build a sustainable future for
unborn generations. 

Let each of us focus our new
year’s resolution on the challenge of
meeting our Kyoto commitment
over the next five years. In setting a
personal example of restraint and
sacrifice, we can then demand more
enlightened environmental policies
from our politicians.

Hugh Robertson is a retired teacher.
“Kyoto: A New Year’s Resolution” is
part of a series of articles on climate
change appearing in the New
Edinburgh News, an Ottawa 
community newspaper. 

Teachers believe in fair, effective,
and reliable evaluation of students

Fair evaluation 
embeds these principles:
• Students learn in different ways
and at different rates.
• All students can learn and
deserve the support they require to
succeed.
• Students and parents/guardians
are active participants in assess -
ment and evaluation.
• Evaluation procedures and
results are fair and are expressed in
clear language to the students and
parents/guardians.

Effective evaluation 
• informs and supports student
learning through a continuous cycle
of teaching and learning, assess -
ment, and planning for instruction. 
• requires many tools and
strategies in addition to tests, e.g.,
performance standards, projects,
presentations, rating scales,
observations, portfolios, essays,
writing samples, checklists, goal
setting, and evaluating.

Overused
• There are too many tests.
Provincial tests include Grades 4, 7,
10, 11, and 12. As well, many
school districts have implemented
district-wide tests to provide data
for the achievement contracts
required by the ministry and admin-
istrators often pressure teachers to
do school-wide and district-wide
tests to provide data for school
growth plans. 
• They take too much time. The
need to improve scores creates
pressure to practice for all of these
tests during valuable learning time.
• They cost too much money.
Large-scale tests are used when
samples would suffice; money is
wasted that is desperately needed
for textbooks, library books, and
learning resources.  
• Overuse harms vulnerable
students. “Low achievers become
overwhelmed by assessments and
de-motivated by constant evidence
of their low achieve ment. The effect
is to increase the gap between low-
and high-achieving pupils.” (UK
Assess-ment Reform Group, 2002
• They actually harm public
education. In the US, researchers
are demonstrating that the over use
of standardized tests has decreased
graduation rates and has not
improved student achieve ment.
Overuse and the inflated value
placed on these tests forces
teachers to “teach to the test”
which, in turn, narrows and “dumbs
down” the education system. 

Misused
• The Fraser Institute misuses the
results of FSA tests by ranking
schools. These rankings reflect the
economic status of students and
communities but do not appropri -
ately evaluate the com plexity of
learning or education. Results are
not reliable measures of student
progress. Public hum iliation of
students, schools, and communities
is reminiscent of 19th Century
education practices and is unaccep -
table today. Low rankings have led
to a drop in enrolment, which
brings even less money to schools
in need. 
• False claims of improvement or
declines result when reliability and
confidence intervals are not
available. Like public opinion polls,
large-scale, standardized tests have
a “range of reliability.” This can lead
to wide fluctuations that appear to
indicate improve ments or declines,
but are just not reliable. 

Most not useful
• They focus on lower-level skills
that are easily tested, e.g., assess -
ing factual recall, paraphrasing, and
content understanding are the
focus rather than critical thinking,
creative problem solving, or co-
operation and communication
skills.
• They do not help students learn.
Single, large-scale tests are not reli-
able enough at the individual stu-
dent level to be useful for improv-
ing student learning. 
• They do not help teachers teach.
They do not provide information
that teachers can use to adjust
instruction or diagnose students’
needs.
• They do not provide meaningful
information to parents about their
child’s progress on the prescribed
curriculum.

Standardized test results do not
generate more money, increased
support for students, or lower class
sizes for students and schools that
require support.

Reprinted from “A Note from your
teachers,” a report from the BCTF to the
Members of the Legislative Assembly,
Linda Shuto, October 13, 2007.

The Fraser Instsitute misuses
the results of FSA tests by
ranking schools. These
rankings reflect the econo -
mic status of students and
communities but do not
appropriately evaluate the
complexity of learning or
education.

• is often called “assessment for
learning” as opposed to “assess -
ment of learning” that checks on
what students already know. 
“We know from research that effective
assessment for learning can improve
student achieve ment substantially.
Improved classroom assessment
helps low achievers the most.”
(Black and William, Assessment
Reform Group, 1998)
• teaches students to be respon -
sible for their learning, rather than
focussed on what is on the test.

Reliable evaluation 
• We know that no single test or
assessment strategy is completely
reliable. That is why teachers
favour a wide variety of strategies
that examine the broad and com-
plex nature of learning, including
higher-order thinking skills required
in the world today. 
• We also know that tests have
specific purposes and we are
trained to use them appropriately,
e.g., large-scale, standardized tests
are useful to monitor curriculum
and programs but need only be
administered to a small sample of
students to be reliable for this 
purpose.
• We know how to assess, when
to assess, and what kinds of
assessment to use to support stu-
dent learning. 

The issue facing us is not
“whether” we should assess
learning, but “how” we
should do it.

What is wrong with
standardized tests?

Most large-scale, standardized
tests should be administered to
samples of students and can be
helpful to assess programs and
curriculum. Unfortunately, this is
often not the way these tests are
currently being used. Standardized
tests are overused, misused, and
not useful.

Standardized testing 
is harming learning

First Nations honour parents and children
By David Doyle

On November 8, 2007, the First
Nations Aboriginal Education
Council, North Vancouver School
District, held a feast honouring First
Nations parents and children at the
Chief Joe Mathias Centre.

The Honourable Steven L. Point,
lieutenant governor of BC, and Mrs.
Gwen Point were the guests of
honour at this beautiful gathering
and were drummed and sung into
the Chief Joe Mathias Centre by a
traditional First Nations honour
guard and welcoming committee.
The committee included the
Squamish and Tsleil-Waututh
chiefs, elders, and the North
Vancouver School District
Aboriginal Education Council.
Welcoming speeches and prayer
were by Chief Gibby Jacobs and
Chief Leanne George. 

In his address, the lieutenant
governor pointed out that for
Aboriginal people, history tradi -
tionally was not written in books.
Education was life, it was the
mountains and the rivers, the
animals and the birds that provided
daily lessons. It was the elders who
educated through stories, dance,
and traditional enterprises, such as
canoe building. Then came public
schools, and no surprise to anyone,
it was not done well.

The lieutenant governor went on
to talk about education today where
elders are getting into the schools.
He explained how they are talking,
encouraging culture and language—
making school familiar and real.
This is much different than in the
past. Today, there is a willingness to
allow cultural and language activi -
ties in schools. It is an important
component of the move toward
self-government—education is a
crucial factor in the success of all of
our endeavors.

Deeply impassioned, the lieuten -
ant governor told the full hall that
for the leaders of tomorrow it is not
good enough to have a degree in
economics or science. They must
have a degree of the heart, a PhD in
elder’s wisdom. 

The lieutenant governor empha -
sized that the world is not the same
as in the past and that what is
needed is strong leadership and
policies that incorporate the values
of the elders. He stressed that it is
important for First Nations to bring
what we know to Canada, share
what we understand, thereby
improving all our lives. Credits and
education all mean nothing unless
you turn them into something real.
It is time to bring forth a vision for
the future that includes First Nations
people—it is time to share.

After the lieutenant governor

spoke, Gwen Point, a Sto:lo
educator, spoke as well. She asked:
How can we help children succeed?
How can we get parents involved?
How can we get them coming to the
school? She then answered most
eloquently—the children need to
see themselves in the curriculum;
they need to hear their songs and
their language. She also pointed out
that when one of our people stands
up, we all stand up. Children in
schools are on the front lines. We
are creating the future for seven
generations.

Another highlight of the evening
was the chiefs from the Squamish
and the Tsleil-Waututh Nations
presenting their guests with a brief
traditional “blanket” ceremony,
calling upon four witnesses to
speak. This was followed by
entertainment by students and
greetings from other nations. Of
note was the address of one of the
chiefs who summed up his
understanding of education and the
evening, paying respect to the
disciplined life of the Lieutenant
Governor Steven Point and Mrs.
Point. He also reminded us all to
respect the accomplishments of the
Nations and to remember that—
knowledge is not a substitute for
wisdom.

David Doyle teaches at Sutherland
Secondary School, North Vancouver.
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By Larry Kuehn

The ubiquity of cell phones
inevitably leads to questions about
their use in classrooms and schools.
These days, even a ride on the city
bus features listening to one side of
a conversation, as if the other
person was riding on the bus beside
the passenger on the phone. Kids of
all ages now have them. 

So what to do about cell phones
at school. Forbid them? Put
conditions around their use? Allow
texting, but not voice? Forbid
photos?

Who should decide? Should the
ministry adopt a requirement for
districts to have a policy, as they
have with bullying? Should it be up
to the school to have a common
policy? Or is it left to individual

teachers defining rules and
responsible for enforcing them? 

Or should we do nothing,
accepting that they are a part of the
social environment in which we
live? 

Good arguments can be made
against the do-nothing approach. At
the very least, a phone ringing in
the middle of a class can be
disruptive.

Early reports of problems were
about cheating on tests. South
Korea is probably the most con -
nected country on the globe and
has an end-of-school test that
determines not just what university
one gets into, but also job prospects
afterward. They have been dealing
with the use of cell phones to cheat
on exams for several years.

High stakes inevitably produce a
powerful incentive to ensure a high
result. Our students are not immune
to pressures to pass or gain a high
mark.

In addition to concerns about
cheating, cyberbullying has become
a significant enough issue for the
Canadian Teachers’ Federation to
propose policies to address it. The
addition of the camera to the cell
phone added new dangers and
upped the potential for bullying
both students and teachers.

The postings of school fights on
YouTube have had the most publi -
city. One BC school found that
students had created a “fight club,”
with scheduled performances

shared globally through quick
uploads.

An incident with a teacher in
Quebec got lots of media coverage
last year. Students in a class created
chaos as a way of inciting a teacher,
then used a phone to video the
teacher’s angry response. It was
soon posted on YouTube.

Video of teachers in BC hasn’t
become a big media story—yet.
However, one teacher who dressed
in costume on Halloween saw a
student recording with a cell phone.
She explicitly told the student not to
post it on YouTube. When she
checked there at the end of the day,
the teacher was as a media star.

The local president in Cariboo-
Chilcotin, Rob Taylor, suggests
doing some active checking. He said
“Our high schools didn’t have a cell
phone policy until I suggested they
search YouTube with the names of
the high schools. Surprisingly, two
of the three schools had something
posted, one a school fight, one a
teacher ‘losing it’ in class.” 

You may want to do a search for
your school on a regular basis to
see what the situation is. It is
possible to get material removed
from a website, but it’s not easy.
Also, a number of less well-known
websites may have material that
you don’t find out about easily.

So what should the policy be?
An Ontario school district has

adopted a no-cell-after-the-bell
policy. A number of BC districts are
considering similar approaches. In
some districts, it is left up to the
school to adopt a policy. In the
absence of district or school

policies, teachers may set explicit
limits in their class. 

A no-cell policy may apply to
teachers as well as students.

Some policies explicitly prohibit
the posting of photos taken at
school without the permission of
the subject of the photo. However,
the lack of boundaries in our digi -
tally saturated society presents new
problems. Should students face
discipline for actions taken outside
of school, such as online bullying,
that has a spillover impact on the
school?

School and district penalties for
ignoring policies are often confisca -
tion of the cell phone. In some
cases, the student can pick it up
from the office at the end of the day.
In others, the phones are only
returned when a parent comes to
the school to pick it up.

You can join an online discussion
about these issues on the BCTF web
site at:  bctf.ca/forums/Education
AndTechnology.aspx or
www.tinyurl.com/26md2m

What policies have been adopted
by your school district or school?
What is your view of what policies
should be? Should the BCTF
propose a policy on cell phone use
in schools? Do you have an
interesting story to tell about the
problem of cell phones in school?
Join the discussion, but remember,
online space is public space.

We will publish some of the more
informative responses.

Larry Kuehn is the director of the
BCTF’s Research and Technology
Division.

On being well
Wellness is having
a passion for
chocolate, but…
By Julia Johnson

I wasn’t always a chocolate lover.
Sweets and desserts were never
part of my diet as a child or as an
adult. However, now that meno -
pause has created a hormonal
imbalance in my system and my
taste buds have become acutely
sensitive, all of that has changed. I
remember quite clearly the first time
I had a second helping of a choco -
late dessert just because it tasted so
good. It didn’t matter that I had
eaten enough. My taste buds were
exploding and the message to my
brain was, “I must have more of
this!” Thus began my passionate
consumption for all things
chocolate.

I try to rationalize my compelling
need for devouring chocolate by
acknowledging the research that
espouses its medical virtues.
Apparently, dark chocolate may
lower high blood pressure, increase
insulin sensitivity, reduce the risk of
heart attack, improve arterial blood
flow, and help people with chronic
fatigue syndrome. 

According to WebMD, “The

possible health benefits of chocolate
stem from the antioxidant flavo -
noids. Chocolate comes from the
cacao plant, and cacao is extra -
ordinarily rich in flavanols... The
flavanols in cocoa beans have a
biochemical effect of reducing
platelet clumping... The more non-
fat cocoa solids a chocolate product
contains, the more antioxidants it
tends to contribute.” With this
information I became a discriminate
shopper, eating only Belgian or
Swiss dark chocolate. My mind was
at rest. I was able to satisfy my
chocolate desire knowing that my
body would reap the health
benefits; that is, until I learned that
the chocolate I so enjoyed was
made possible by slave labour.

West Africa is the world’s largest
producer and exporter of cocoa
beans, supplying 50% of the world’s
cocoa on the backs of one-quarter
of a million of African children. It
has been documented that boys
aged 12 to 16 years found begging
are lured to the Ivory Coast and are
sold as slaves. Traffickers promise
them paid work, housing, and
education; instead they are forced
to work on cocoa farms under
severely abusive conditions. Reports
from UNICEF (1998, 2007) confirm
that child trafficking is prevalent in
the cocoa farming industry of the
Ivory Coast. And a British television

documen tary, Slavery: a Global
Investigation (2001) claimed that
90% of the Ivory Coast cocoa
plantations use forced labour. Carol
Off, co-host of CBC Radio’s As it
Happens, in her book (Bitter
Chocolate: Investigating the Dark Side
of the World’s Most Seductive Sweet,
2007) “traces the origins of the
cocoa craze and describes the
conditions under which it is grown
and harvested.” She explains how
the West African Cocoa Industry,
“with the complicity of Western
governments and corporations,”
such as Nestle, Hershey, Cadbury,
and Mars thrive using unethical
practices. CBC radio recently
reported (November 28, 2007) that
regulators from Canada’s
Competition Bureau “have launched
an investigation into allegations
that the Canadian divisions of
Nestle, Hershey, Cadbury, and Mars
have engaged in a price-fixing
scheme in the multibillion-dollar
chocolate bar business.”

Faced with the reality of these
reports, activists are working
toward increasing public awareness
of this issue and pressuring
Canadian and US governments to
create a child-trafficking bill that
would make it illegal for crops to be
imported from countries that sup -
port child trafficking. Journalist and
filmmaker Teun (Tony) van de
Keuken of the Netherlands,
produced a documentary for You
Tube, entitled “Tony Chocolonely”

exposing the Ivory Coast slave trade
in the chocolate industry from
which Nestle derives its profits.
Once Tony became aware that
children were forced to work on
cocoa plantations under slave
conditions, he became a chocolate-
maker striving to produce the
world’s first slave-free chocolate
with support from the Max Havelaar
Foundation. Tony says, “The bars
were an overnight success. It shows
that people really want this once
they’re aware of how things are
made. You just have to tell them
and show them what reality is.”

The thing about being on a
wellness journey is that it is fraught
with health-related choices
regarding, not only our personal
well-being, but the social justice
issues that affect the well-being of
others and the planet that is our

home. At the root of the decisions
we make is the passion that fuels
our motivation to effect change. My
passion for chocolate has become a
deeper passion of commitment to
purchase only chocolate and
chocolate products with fair-trade
or slave-free labels. Now that I
know that child-abuse practices go
into the making of a Hershey’s kiss,
I find such a delicacy revolting.

For information on fair-trade/
slave-free chocolate see these
internet websites: 
• www.globalexchange.org 

(fairtrade@globalexchange.org)
• www.stopthetraffik.org, 
• Google: Tony Chocolonely.

Julia Johnson, a retired learning
resource teacher in Quesnel is a
BCTF PD wellness associate. 
livingjewels@shaw.ca

Celebration of education and family for South Asian students

Education and technology

The Ad Hoc Committee for South
Asian Student Development is a
joint Surrey-Delta group, consisting
of local members. This committee is
dedicated to educating parents,
teachers, and the community to
support youth in their continued
goal of becoming positive, contri -
buting citizens of society. The
committee also celebrates the
success achieved by many young
South Asians in our community
through academics, scholarships,
sports, or leadership. 

On October 4, 2007, the group
organized and hosted a very suc -
ces s ful parent and student informa -
tion dinner gala at the Grand Taj

Banquet Hall in Surrey. This free
event welcomed over 900 people,
including parents, students, and
teachers from Lower Mainland
schools and was funded by the
Surrey Teachers’ Association and
the Surrey School Board. Also in
attendance were local MLAs, MPs,
and school board staff. Guest
speakers included Rob Rai (Youth
Diversity Liason), Harjinder Thind
(popular RED FM Host), and Jinny
Sims who gave a Punjabi presenta -
tion to the parents promot ing read -
ing with their children every day. 

In addition, a theatre group
entertained the crowd with hum -
our  ous and serious drama skits

about gender issues, the working
family, and reading with grand -
parents. Parents were encouraged
to continue to support their chil -
dren’s educational goals, and were
provided with resources for lang -
uage/cultural barriers to promote
more involvement in schools.
Leadership students and dance
teams were honoured for their
contributions in our schools and
community. Overall, an excellent
evening that yielded positive parent
learning and feedback.

To join this K–12 teachers’
committee, or for information on
events, contact kambo_a@sd36.bc.
ca or 604-588-3418, ext. 2237.

Executive members of the Ad Hoc Committee for South Asian Student
Development: ( L-R) Ami Kambo (Surrey), Andrea Dulay (Delta), Jasmine Bains
(Surrey), Harpreet Gill (Surrey), and Suki Lalli (Surrey).

Cell phones:
to ban or not 
to ban?

http://www.globalexchange.org
http://www.stopthetraffik.org
mailto:kambo_a@sd36.bc.ca
mailto:fairtrade@globalexchange.org
http://www.tinyurl.com/26md2m
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By Glen Hansman

Delegates to the 51st annual BC
Federation of Labour Convention
were kept busy for the three-day
event held November 26–28, 2007.
As this was the BCTF’s first
convention as a full affiliate, several
locals brought their own resolutions
to supplement the ones coming
from the BCTF Executive Commit -
tee, and there was a definite sense
that the convention was now “our”
space as well. Our space, was not
only to bring public education
issues into the broader labour dis -
cussion, but also to more meaning -
fully learn from, and react to, the
working conditions faced by other
workers provincially, nationally, and
globally. 

agreement with no wage increases
for four years, cuts to holiday time,
and a longer work week with no
overtime. 

The convention is primarily about
finding consensus, about the
sharing of stories and information,
of which we heard much: 

• about the BC Fed’s successful
campaign in honour of Grant
DePatie (the young worker who was
killed in 2005 following a gas-and-
dash in Maple Ridge) to get new
Worker’s Compensation Board
regulations requiring employers to
ensure that late-night retail workers
would either work with at least one
other worker or the employer must
implement security measures.

• about BC Hydro workers,
whose employer is now prevented
from producing new power due to
an agreement that sees new
projects being in the control of
private companies.

• about childcare workers who
do not receive a pension.

• about the 2006 gold mine
disaster in Mexico, which saw
dozens of bodies left behind in the
mine at the behest of the wealthy
mining company, which also
happens to be a large supporter of
Vicente Fox. Napolean Gomez
(president of the Mine Workers’ and
Steelworkers’ Union in Mexico)
addressed the convention, telling
delegates about the five-month
strike following the mining disaster,
and the imprisonment and torture
of union leaders that ensued.  

• about the efforts of UniteHere!
hotel workers (such as those at the
Vancouver Airport Delta Hotel
where the BCTF Representative
Assembly is held) to bargain
reasonable workloads, improved
pay, and sick-leave provisions. 

• about the continuing plight of
migrant farm workers in Canada,
who continue to face extremely
unsafe conditions in their
workplaces (e.g., having to travel in
overcrowded vans, 40% of which
need to be taken off the road), and
for very little pay. BC Fed President
Jim Sinclair reported that after the
deaths of several women farm
workers a couple of years ago,

required.
Another issue that highlighted the

gulf dividing teachers from the
ministry involved retention. Bond
stated: “It’s a discussion we haven’t
really engaged in as a sector over
the last number of years, but it’s a
pretty significant issue” and argued
for retention. But teachers clearly
disagreed.

“There is no research that
supports retention,” said Janice
Neden of Kamloops Thompson
district. “What we end up doing is
punishing children.”

2. Educators are role models who
act ethically and honestly.

3. Educators understand and apply
knowledge of student growth and
development.

4. Educators value the involvement
and support of parents,
guardians, families and commu-
nity in schools.

5. Educators implement effective
practices in areas of planning,
instruction, assessment, evalua-
tion and reporting.

6. Educators have a broad knowl-
edge base and understand the
subject areas they teach.

7. Educators engage in career-long
learning.

8. Educators contribute to the pro-
fession.
According to The Vancouver Sun,

the new standards have not pleased
everyone. The BC Confederation of
Parent Advisory Councils says the
standards “...are vague and open to
misinterpretation.” And the BC
School Trustees Association is also
concerned about the lack of
specificity.

But, BCTF President Irene
Lanzinger was generally supportive
of the new standards—with one
exception. The union wants
standard 2 changed to: “College
members are accountable for their
conduct where that conduct has an

effect on their role in the education
system.” And it wants to remove a
sentence in the explanation of  2
that says, “Educators are
accountable for their conduct both
on the job and away from the
educational setting,” and replace it
with, “College members are
accountable for their conduct in the
education system.”

Lanzinger stated: “Occasionally, a
teacher may make a mistake or be
guilty of an infraction that does not
have an impact on their teaching or
role in the school system. In that
instance, the college has no role.”

– Murray Dobbin

BCFedconvention
51st convention marks BCTF’s first year as full affiliate

Our space, was not only to
bring public education issues
into the broader labour
discussion, but also to more
meaningfully learn from, and
react to, the working
conditions faced by other
workers provincially,
nationally, and globally.

For instance, while the conven -
tion adopted a BCTF resolution
calling for the repeal of the Liberal
government’s education bills from
last spring (Bills 20, 21, and 22),
BCTF delegates also participated
wholeheartedly in the $10 Minimum
Wage petitioning activities during
the convention. The convention
diverged from its usual practice of
not entertaining amendments from
the floor by accepting one of ours,
which added a reference to school
boards to a resolution about
municipal elections. Teachers at the
conven tion were proud to attend
the lunch-hour demonstration at the
nearby Sears store in support of the
77 service technicians from the
International Brotherhood of
Electrical Workers (Local 213). They
have been locked out since October
1 after Sears imposed a collective

teacher Susan Fonseca (one of
those selected randomly from
teachers who sent in their names
for consideration), conditions are so
stressful it was inevitable that
teaching conditions would come up.
While they did come up, she’s not
sure Minister Shirley Bond or other
officials heard the concerns.

“I knew I had an important mes -
sage to deliver to the government
about the unmet needs of our
students,” said Fonesca. “I was
disappointed when I arrived that the
agenda was structured more as a
day for professional development
rather than the proposed open
dialogue.” 

Unlike last year, when teachers
had the opportunity to blast Premier
Gordon Campbell for the broken
promises of Bill 33, this year he was
a no-show.

But teachers nonetheless made
their views known. According to
several who attended, teacher after
teacher got up and explained the
deterioration of learning conditions
because of crowded classrooms,
and little or no support for students
with special needs. The situation is
so bad that many districts no longer
test students for fear of them being
identified as having special needs.
They know they don’t have the
resources for the additional services

Teachers’ Congress
features duelling
agendas

This year’s Teachers’ Congress,
billed as an opportunity for rank-
and-file teachers to talk directly to
the government, found government
officials and teachers largely talking
about different things. The
congress, held November 30 and
involving about 100 teachers from
across the province, was tightly
scripted by the education ministry
to avoid any conflict between the
government’s priorities and
teachers’ classroom experience.

In her blog, Vancouver Sun educa -
tion reporter Janet Steffenhagen,
entitled her comments on the
meeting “Controlling dissent at the
annual Teachers’ Congress.” She
wrote:  “Minister Shirley Bond and
her officials set the agenda,
focussing discussion on literacy,
healthy schools, and Aboriginal
learners. Funny—no mention of
funding or standardized tests—the
two issues that came up this
morning when three teachers had a
chance to speak during a question-
and-answer session with BC
regional chief Shawn Atleo.”

But the script wasn’t always
followed. According to Langley

College releases
new standards for
educators

The BC College of Teachers has
released new standards for
educators covering some 65,000
teachers, AOs, and superintendents
in the K–12 system. It is the first
time since 2003, that  standards
have been updated following a two-
year consultation.

The draft standards, still subject
to stakeholder feedback and
approval by the Ministry of
Education, are:
1. Educators value and care for all

students and minors and act in
their best interest.

Report from the
Learning Round
Table

The Learning Round Table was
created by the provincial govern -
ment at the time of the teachers’
strike in October 2005. The premier
participated in the first several
meetings, along with the education
minister, ministry officials, and
organizational representatives from
the parents, school trustees, princi -
pals and vice-principals, superin -
tendents, as well as the BCTF.

The topic for meetings has been
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learning and teaching conditions,
and Bill 33, in particular, with class
size and composition front and
centre.

The latest meeting took place
December 10, 2007. According to
BCTF President Irene Lanzinger, the
meetings, while useful, still display
a disturbing gulf between the
government and teachers regarding
public education priorities. “They’re
still focussed on testing and narrow
account ability and we’re focussed
on resources and learning
conditions.” 

Some of the round table meetings
have been good. “But this time they
tried to portray progress on Bill 33.
In fact, we have been moving
backward. We have lost special
resources teachers and learning
assistance teachers. The numbers
speak for themselves.”

Premier Campbell did not attend.

Key issues and information 
from the meeting
• Situation worse for special needs

The number of classes this year
with four or more students with
special needs grew by almost 8%
over last year. The ministry reports
that 10,313 classes had four or more
students this year, compared to
9,559 in 2006–07.

The number of classes with more

than 30 students decreased only
slightly compared to last year—from
3,242 last year to 3,179 this year.
That means that only 63 more
classes met the class-size limit this
year.

Despite the decrease being quite
small, the minister’s spin is that the
number of classes over 30 has
decreased 66% over two years. This
is based on there having been 9,253
classes over 30 reported in the
2005–06 school year. She said that
there should not be an expectation
that class sizes will continue to
decrease in size in the future.

Irene Lanzinger responded that
members are experiencing Bill 33 as
a “failed promise” and that there
will not be significant improve -
ments unless funding is increased.
The minister said that she was
disappointed to hear it described as
a failure because there was more
money this year and about 7,000
fewer students.

BCTF representatives all argued
for improved funding to meet the
promise of Bill 33 on class size and
class composition.

A number of the other stake -
holder groups said that improve -
ments in support for students with
special needs should be carried out
through more in-service training for
teachers. As well, Penny Tees from

the BCSTA argued that improve -
ments in class size would limit
other options for boards of
education.
• Class-size, class-composition 

information on the web
The ministry provided the round

table with only the provincial
overview of class size and class
composition. The district and school
results are on the ministry website
with figures for each district and
each individual school. 

In addition, information will be
provided on the number of special
education assistants in each district
and school.

The ministry reported that the
number of special education assis -
tants has increased substantially
this year over last year. While the
numbers of special education
specialist teachers were not
announced, it seems likely that
teacher numbers have decreased
while the number of assistants has
increased.
• Safety in labs with more 

than 24 students
Teacher representative John

Wadge raised the concern about
safety in lab classes with more than
the 24 students they were designed
for. The minister said that she could
not imagine professional leaders
putting students in classes where

there was a danger to health and
safety. When she hears claims that
there is a health and safety problem,
she asks the deputy minister to
check out the situation.

When Wadge pointed out that
one “solution” being adopted by
some administrators is to simply
eliminate classes that only have
space for 24. The minister agreed
that there may be some courses that
are eliminated to deal with the
problem.
• Clawback on school 

district funds
The minister reported that the

funding rules were being changed
again. This time it is to allow full
funding of alternate education
students even if the students are
taking fewer than eight classes.
Districts are being told to redo their
submissions on students in
alternate education programs.

She again repeated that the same
amount of money will be there, but
it will be redistributed. Some
districts will get more funds, some
will lose, and some will stay the
same. More districts will gain than
will lose, she contended.

• Consultation
The deputy minister said there

were concerns about the time
required for consultation, but that
the consultation requirement had a

positive impact. The rationale for
classes over 30 will also be on the
website. Districts were required to
provide the rationales to the
ministry in electronic form so it
would be possible to publish and
analyze the rationales. The ration -
ale was limited to 240 characters—
20 to 30 words.

Superintendent of Achievement
Rick Davis reported that if there
were not good rationales, then the
ministry would go to the superin -
tendents about ministry concerns.

The ministry distributed a
proposed regulation on consultation
that defines consult as:

(a) provision by the principal of a
school to the teacher of a class with

(i) information that the principal
considers relevant to a proposal for
the size and organization of the class,
and 

(ii) 2 school days before a decision
is made respecting the size and
organization of the class for the
teacher to consider the proposal and
provide the principal with the
teacher’s views in that regard, and

(b) consideration by the principal of
the teacher’s views, if any have been
provided.

All the organizations were asked
to provide feedback to the ministry
on the proposed language.

– Larry Kuehn

recommendations for change from
the WCB and coroner went to the
BC Liberals. At this point, changes
have yet to be made to protect these
workers. Farm contractors have an
effective lobby of the Liberals,
Sinclair said, resulting in a situation
where migrant farm workers are
effectively treated like slaves. “The
minimum wage has to mean you
can live on that wage,” said Sinclair.
Yet approximately 100,000 of these
migrant farm workers earn less
than $8 per hour.

The conditions of migrant work -
ers and temporary foreign workers
in Canada and abroad were also
addressed during the International
Solidarity Night, which was
definitely the highlight of the 2008
convention. A panel of activists and
organizers from both North and
South America outlined the harsh

realities facing workers in both
continents—and, in particular,
Canada’s role in contributing to
those harsh realities. In Colombia,
for example, more trade unionists
were killed there last year than
anywhere else in the world, three
million people have been displaced
from resource rich areas, indigen -
ous cultures are being annihilated,
and human rights conditions in
general are among the worst
globally. Canada is pursu ing a free-
trade agreement in that country,
which in effect will completely
surrender 44 million people to
corporate interests.

Meanwhile, temporary foreign
workers are being brought into
Canada at an increasing rate—
without adequate protections in
place, with a high level of exploita -
tion (e.g., low pay, few enforcement
mechanisms for safety and other
employment standards that do
exist), along with racism, bullying,
and threats of deportation.  

Delegates also attended a full day
of workshops built around the
themes of this year’s convention:
Labour confronts the challenge of
global warming, Organizing to meet
the challenge of the global
economy, and Mobilizing our
members to participate in the
democratic process.

As teachers, we were proud to be
there, and look forward to continu -
ing working in solidarity with our
allies in the labour movement.  

Glen Hansman is president of the
Vancouver Elementary School
Teachers’ Association.

Learn more…
• about the efforts of hotel workers

to lift one another above the
poverty line:
www.local40union.com and
www.hotelworkersrising.org. 

• about why a Canada–Colombia
free-trade agreement is a big 
mistake:
http://tinyurl.com/2mtbv4

• about the new WCB regulations
protecting late-night workers:
www.bcfed.com/node/1133.

• about how Sears is treating its
service technicians belonging to
IBEW 213 by not shopping at
Sears until the dispute is
resolved, cutting up your Sears
card and returning it, and writing
letters to share your disapproval
to Sears Canada Inc., 
National Customer Service
Centre, c/o President’s Office, 
500 College Street East, 
Belleville, Ontario K8N 5L3.

GLEN HANSMAN / JACK MACDERMOT PHOTOS

http://www.local40union.com
http://www.hotelworkersrising.org
http://tinyurl.com/2mtbv4
http://www.bcfed.com/node/1133
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never forget. BCAA consultants
have the Certified Travel Counsellor
(CTC) designation.

The CTC program is a voluntary
certification standard only 10% of
travel agents in Canada have
achieved. A CTC takes courses,
collects education credits, and
passes a rigorous exam. They
attend industry events, educational
workshops, and seminars to keep
up-to-date on new vacation
hotspots and innovative travel
products.  

A knowledgeable travel
counsellor does not take a cookie-
cutter approach to planning your
vacation. No two people are the
same and the package that’s on sale
this week might be a great deal, but
is it necessarily the kind of vacation

A certified travel
counsellor makes a
vacation that’s
unforgettable

Have you recently taken an
approved leave of absence from
your current school district? If so,
you may want to consider
purchasing that leave to maximize
the pension benefit that you will
receive at retirement. Here are
some things to note:
1. A leave can be with full pay, par-

tial pay, or without pay. For pen-
sion purposes, a leave with full
pay is treated as if you were not
on leave at all.

2. During a full-time leave without
pay, you do not accumulate
either pensionable or contributo-
ry service. If you purchase a
leave period, you will receive the
pensionable and contributory
service that you would have
received, had you not taken the
leave. 

3. During a leave of absence with
partial pay, your contributions
and pensionable service are
reduced in proportion to the
amount of time you are working.
For example, if you are working
half-time and on a half-time
unpaid leave, you accumulate
half the pensionable service and
full contributory service. If you
purchase the half-time leave you
will receive the other half of the
pensionable service.

4. There is a time limit to purchase
approved leaves of absence—five
years from the completion of that
leave, or termination of employ-
ment from that same employer,
whichever is earlier. 
Let’s look at an example:
A teacher in the Cowichan Valley
school district is granted a one-
year maternity-parental leave
beginning January 1, 2007. She
returns to work January 1, 2008.

She has until December 31, 2012
to purchase that leave. She then
decides to resign her position in
the Cowichan Valley School
District at the end of June 2008 in
order to start teaching in the
Sooke School District in
September 2008. This decision
immediately triggers a new pur-
chase deadline of June 30, 2008.
In other words, she must initiate
the purchase of that one-year
maternity-parental leave from
Cowichan Valley School District
before her resignation from that
same district takes effect.

5. In order to initiate a purchase of
service, download and print a
purchase of service application
form from the Forms section on
the home page of the Teachers’
Pension Plan website, 
tpp.pensionsbc.ca. Complete the
top third of the form. Take the
form into your school district
office to have the second third of
the form completed. That’s all
you have to do. Your school dis-
trict will give you a copy of the
form showing both parts com-
pleted and send off the original
to the Teachers’ Pension Plan for
processing. You will then receive
a letter direct from the TPP
detailing the cost of the plan and
a deadline for payment.
For further information on

purchase of service, check out
pensions page on the BCTF website,
bctf.ca and Pensionfacts documents
on purchase of service on the TPP
website under publica tions. Contact
BCTF Income Security staff 1-800-
663-9163, (ext. 1921); 604-871-
1921, or e-mail alambert@bctf.ca,
cprellwitz@bctf.ca, or immis@bctf.ca. 

Teachers’ Pension Plan
What’s new with purchase of
service and the Teachers’
Pension Plan?

Pension seminars
1.Your Pension, Your Future

Thurs.&Fri. 5:00–6:30 p.m., Sat. 9:00–10:30 am
2.Thinking About Retiring

Thurs.&Fri. 7:30–9:30 p.m., Sat. 11:30 a.m.–1:30 p.m.
Preregistration is required; the time and location will be con firmed by e-
mail or by mail. The forms are available at tpp.pensionsbc.ca.

Date City Location
February 7 Vancouver SFU, Fletcher Challenge Theatre
February 8 Vancouver SFU, Fletcher Challenge Theatre
February 9 Vancouver SFU, Fletcher Challenge Theatre
February 14 Vernon Schubert Centre
February 16 Penticton Penticton Lakeside Resort
March 6 Burnaby Shadboldt Centre
March 8 Burnaby Shadboldt Centre
March 29 Fort St. John Super 8 Motel
April 3 Nanaimo Coast Bastion Inn
April 5 Nanaimo Cost Bastion Inn
April 12 Castlegar Selkirk College 
April 19 Prince Rupert Coast Prince Rupert
May 8 Delta Delta Town & Country
May 10 North Vancouver Holiday Inn, North Vancouver

For more information, contact: Teachers’ Pension Plan, Seminar
Services, Box 9460, Victoria, BC V8W 9V8, Toll free 1-877-558-5574, 
Fax: 250-953-0436, E-mail TPPseminars@pensionsbc.ca.

1. To better understand your pen-
sion as a “pay cheque for life” in
retirement.

2. To recognize the benefits of a
defined-benefit pension plan
such as the TPP.

3. To make the most of your indi-
vidual learning styles (seeing, lis-
tening, reading, writing, website
tools) to understand pension
information.

4. To learn how to read your own
Members’ Benefit Statement and
access your personal pension
information online.

5. To learn how to make the most
of your pension benefit (e.g., pur-
chases of service, transfers,

The Boy Insidespecial
education DVD 

Teachers, parents, and students
across BC will be interested to know
that this week the Ministry of
Education distributed copies of the
critically acclaimed documentary
DVD The Boy Inside, directed by
Marianne Kaplan, and a study guide
for teachers. The DVD chronicles a
difficult school year for Adam, a 12-
year-old boy who has Asperger
Syndrome, an Autism Spectrum
Disorder (ASD). Both the DVD and
study guide aim to increase teacher
and student understanding of
Asperger Syndrome, and to foster a
safe, supporting, and caring school
environment. The DVDs have gone
to each school district, to the
superintendents/special education
administrators, with the request
that they develop their own
distribution plan for their own
district.

Me to We
Craig and Marc Kielburger have

just released Me to We: Finding
Meaning in a Material World. This
book focusses on shifting our
thinking about the individual to the
greater needs of our families,
communities, and society. It is a
completely interactive guide for
teachers who want to encourage
their students to become more
involved in making a difference in
the world.

The Kielburgers launched
“National Me to We Day,” on
October 19, 2007, with 7,500
children from over 415 schools who
gathered together to commit to
making a change in our world. The
momentum of National Me to We
Day will continue through the Year
of We—a year-long initiative
connecting youth, families, and
offices to their global community.
To see the passion and excitement
from that day, check out
http://tinyurl.com/34ynht.

“Me to We” kits designed for
educators are free to download
from http://tinyurl.com/2kscql and
provide a combination of tangible
actions, innovative campaigns, and
daily actions to help support
international development work. 

New teaching resource
New teaching resource for Grades

5–8 social science and history gets
fantastic classroom response!

The Gathering Place: An
Exploration of Canada’s Capital was
delivered to schools across Canada
in the fall of 2007, and feedback
shows that 100% of participating
educators would recommend the
resource to others. 

Part of the success of this free
teaching resource is that it goes
beyond dry facts and helps youth
actively explore the capital in the
context of who we are as a country
and as a people. In fact, 98% of
educators indicated that participa -
tion in the activities improved
students’ understanding and sense

child-rearing credit).
6. To learn more about post-retire-

ment group benefits (i.e., MSP,
EHB, dental, and indexing).

7. To have your general pension
questions answered during the
seminar and your personal ques-
tions answered after the seminar.

8. To begin planning in order to
have greater security and a more
successful transition into life
beyond the classroom. 

9. It’s all free! Admission, pension
information booklet, pencil, and
beverage—bring your spouse
and/or teaching colleague.

10.No assembly or batteries
required.

Ten reasons to attend a pension seminar this year

Yours for the asking
of Canadian identity.

Educa tors consistently com -
mented on how the activities got
students really involved, were very
interactive, and made tangible
connections with the students’ lives.
A strong theme throughout the
feedback was the strength of the
pedagogy in building higher-level
thinking skills and supporting a
learner-centred, activity-based
education model (the introductory
section has some excellent tips for
encouraging effective group work).

Other key factors cited include
the ease of use; the clear, modular
format; the extensive curriculum
connections; and the way the
materials supported a wide variety
of learning styles and adapted
programs. Many respondents also
pointed out how useful the
materials were for new Canadian
students, both from a content
perspective and as a tool for
developing communication skills. 

Additional online support
material is available at www.
canadascapital.gc.ca/gatheringplace.
The full resource can also be down -
loaded or order your free copy at
www.classroomconnections.ca/
resources. E-mail info@classroom
connections.ca. 

This resource was initiated by the
National Capital Commission and
developed by Classroom Connec -
tions, a Canadian educational non-
profit organization.

EnerAction makes
learning about energy
fun and empowering

GreenLearning announces new
resource and workshops for BC
Teachers. Energy is a hot topic, and
often a complex one, but there are a
growing number of curriculum
resources available for teachers to
choose from. EnerAction stands out
among them. It is the latest offering
in GreenLearning’s family of core
curriculum resources on energy and
the environment. Designed for
Grades 4 to 7, EnerAction addresses
curriculum expectations in science,
social studies, language arts, fine
arts, mathematics, and personal
planning.  

Electra guides
her covey of
energy
explorers on 
a lighting
mission
through
EnerAction’s
student
website.

Learning about energy choices to make
the Carbon Critter’s footprints smaller is
the ultimate challenge.

Carbon Calculator calculates the costs 
in energy and in greenhouse gases to
light their classroom. 

Fusing interactive eLearning with
a powerful series of eleven lessons,
this new resource seeks to provide
students with a rich educational
experience in energy. They learn
where energy comes from, how
energy use impacts the environ -

ment, and how we can make
choices to use energy more wisely

everyday. Consider these lessons,
for example:

#4 Walk a Mile in My Shoes—By
exploring the concept of an
ecological footprint, students learn
that simple lifestyle choices have a
meaningful impact on the planet.
They each create a paper foot of
their own Carbon Critter and
calculate the different impacts of its
lifestyle choices and energy use.

#7 Lighting at School—Working as
a class, students investigate the
energy needed to light the class -
room. With the help of the energy
action figures—Electra, EnerGuy,
Sparky, and the Carbon Critter—
they use the carbon calculator to
explore strategies to save energy

you want to take? A counsellor
spends time to get to know the kind
of traveller you are and uses that
understanding to tailor a trip to fit
you perfectly.

There are plenty of little hidden
surprises in travel, like fees,
surcharges, taxes, and new entry
requirements that a CTC will inform
you about up front. A CTC knows
about the best travel routes and
fares; they are there for you before,
during, and after your trip.

A great vacation experience
begins with the experience of your
travel consultant. 

Melissa Di Poce is the BCAA product
manager, Group Affinity Services.

For more information, contact 
1-877-778-8717 or go to bctf.ca.

Trust the expertise of a BCAA-
certified industry professional to
help plan and book a vacation you’ll

Melissa Di Poce

and dollars, and to reduce
kilograms of greenhouse gas
emissions. 

#9 The Home of the Future—
Working in pairs, students become
teams of architects determined to
design an energy-efficient home of
the future. They discover a range of
ways to save energy at home, from
changes in daily behaviour to the
installation of energy-efficient
appliances to landscaping
decisions. 

Aside from the lesson plans and
accompanying student worksheets,
EnerAction includes a teacher’s
guide and curriculum tables as well
as student backgrounders. 

Professional development work -
shops on EnerAction and other
resources are now available to
teachers across BC. To arrange a
workshop or sign up for one in your
region, contact Johan Stroman, BC
Director of GreenLearning, at
johans@pembina.org or 604-886-
7456. 

To access EnerAction and learn
more, visit www.greenlearning.ca. 

http://www.bctf.ca
http://tpp.pensionsbc.ca
http://bctf.ca
mailto:alambert@bctf.ca
mailto:cprellwitz@bctf.ca
mailto:immis@bctf.ca
http://www.canadascapital.gc.ca/gatheringplace
http://www.classroomconnections.ca/resources
mailto:info@classroomconnections.ca
http://tpp.pensionsbc.ca
http://tinyurl.com/34ynht
http://tinyurl.com/2kscql
http://www.greenlearning.ca
mailto:johans@pembina.org
mailto:tppseminars@pensionsbc.ca
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STATEMENT 1
Statement of Financial Position as at June 30

2007 2006

(in thousands)

Assets
Current
Cash $  10,380        $    7,942
Marketable securities (Note 3) 6,063  7,164

16,443 15,106
Membership fees and

other receivables 3,841 2,935
Inventories and prepaid expenses 665 393

20,949 18,434

Due from Salary Indemnity Fund 1,106 421

Capital Assets (Notes 5 & 6) 14,575 15,269

$  36,630 $  34,124

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and

accrued liabilities $    2,920 $    3,396
Employee future benefit obligation
(Note 7) 4,527 3,065
SIP rebate (Note 8) 2,164 2,408
Due to Provincial Specialist

Associations 1,221 1,052

10,832 9,921

Members’ Funds

General Operating Fund 
(including investment in
capital assets) (Schedule 1) 15,309 14,692

Internally Restricted Funds:
Collective Bargaining
Defence Fund (Schedule 2) 9,920 9,163

Contingency Fund (Schedule 3) 666 371
Provincial Bargaining Fund
(Schedule 4) (63) (114)

Public Education Defence Fund
(Schedule 5) (147) 74

William R. Long Memorial
International Solidarity Fund
(Schedule 6) 102 13

Ed May Memorial Social 
Responsibility Fund (Schedule 6) 11 4

25,798 24,203

$ 36,630 $  34,124

Approved by the Executive Committee

President’s comments 
The accompanying financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2007 have been prepared in accordance

with the by-laws of the Federation and the provisions of the Society Act. They reflect the stewardship of the
Executive Committee over the resources of the Federation and the committee’s accountability to the membership
for the effective management of those resources.

On a combined (all funds) basis, revenues exceeded expenses (a surplus) by $1.6 million for the 2006–07 year
compared to a deficit of $6.1 million for the 2005–06 year. The improvement in operating results was due mainly
to lower expenditures in the Collective Bargaining Defence Fund (CBDF) in 2006–07 versus 2005–06 when
significant expenses were incurred to support bargaining mobilization.

The General Operating Fund (GOF) also contributed to the improved operating results with a surplus of
$617,000 for the 2006–07 year (Schedule 1) compared to a surplus of $64,000 for 2005–06. This improvement in
GOF operating results was due mainly to increased fee revenue as a result of the 2006 AGM decision to increase
the total membership fee for 2006–07 with the GOF fee allocation increasing from 1.25% to 1.31%.

The CBDF surplus was $757,000 for the 2006–07 year (Schedule 2) which increased the fund balance from $9.2
million at June 30, 2006 to $9.9 million at June 30, 2007. Along with lower expenditures in 2006–07 contributing to
the improvement in operating results as noted above, the CBDF membership fee revenue increased in 2006–07 as
a result of the CBDF fee allocation increasing from 0.04% to 0.07%.

The Provincial Bargaining Fund surplus was $51,000 for the 2006–07 year (Schedule 4), which decreased the
negative fund balance of $114,000 at June 30, 2006 resulting in a negative fund balance of $63,000 at June 30,
2007.

The Public Education Defence Fund (PEDF) deficit of $221,000 for the 2006–07 (Schedule 5) decreased the fund
balance from $74,000 at June 30, 2006 to a negative fund balance of $147,000 at June 30, 2007. 

At their January 2008 meeting, the Executive Committee will be considering the Finance Committee 2008–09
total fee recommendation of 1.45%, which represents a status quo total fee but provides for an increased 2008–09
fee allocation to the PEDF (from 0.02% to 0.05%) to respond to the negative fund balance noted above along with
the continuing need to defend public education. The CBDF 2008–09 fee allocation has been reduced by 0.03%
(from 0.09% to 0.06%) to offset the fee allocation increase to the PEDF.

The operations of the Salary Indemnity Fund reflect a surplus of $8.1 million for the 2006–07 year (Statement 2)
compared to a surplus of $7.7 million for 2005–06. The fund balance has now increased from $26.9 million at June
30, 2006 to $35.0 million at June 30, 2007. Based on the market value of investments the fund balance would be
$76.8 million. The Income Security Committee is recommending a fee of 1.50% for 2008–09 (reduction of 0.2%
from 2007–08 fee of 1.70%) which will be considered by the Executive Committee at their January 2008 meeting.

Irene Lanzinger

STATEMENT 2
Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

General Operating Fund Internally Restricted Funds

Public
` Collective Provincial Education

Invested in Bargaining Contingency Bargaining Defence Other
Operating Capital Assets Defence Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Total Total

Balance, beginning of year $    (577) $15,269 $  9,163 $     371 $   (114) $     74 $     17 $24,203 $30,350 

Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses 1,965 (1,348) 757 295 51 (221) 96 1,595 (6,147)

Net change in capital assets (654) 654 — — — — — — —

Balance, end of year $     734 $14,575 $  9,920 $     666 $     (63) $  (147)     $ 113 $25,798 $24,203

Auditors’ Report
To the Members of the British Columbia Teachers’ Federation
We have audited the statement of financial position of the General and Other Funds (not including the Salary

Indemnity Fund) of the British Columbia Teachers’ Federation as at June 30, 2007, and the statements of changes
in net assets, operations and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Federation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
General and Other Funds (not including the Salary Indemnity Fund) of the British Columbia Teachers’ Federation
as at June 30, 2007 and the results of its operations, changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. As required by the Society Act
of British Columbia, we report that, in our opinion, these principles have been applied on a basis consistent with
that of the preceding year.

Smythe Ratcliffe, Chartered Accountants, October 31, 2007

Management Responsibility for Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements and all other information contained in this annual report are the

responsibility of the management of the Federation. The financial statements have been prepared by management
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and have been approved by the Executive
Committee.

Preparation of financial information is an integral part of the ongoing operation of the Federation. A system of
internal accounting controls is maintained to ensure that transactions are accurately recorded on a timely basis,
are properly approved and result in reliable financial statements.

The Finance and Audit Committee reviews the financial statements and recommends them to the Executive
Committee for its approval. In addition, the Finance and Audit Committee meets with the officers of the Federation
and the external auditors, and reports to the Executive Committee.

The financial statements have been examined by the Federation’s auditors who are engaged by the Executive
Committee on recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee and whose appointment was ratified at the
Annual General Meeting. The auditors have free access to the Finance and Audit Committee, without
management present, to discuss the results of their audit work and their opinion on the adequacy of internal
accounting controls and the quality of financial reporting.

Ken Novakowski, Executive Director Rob McLaren, C.A., Treasurer

BCTF Financial Report
for the Year Ended June 30, 2007
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Schedule 6
Other Internally Restricted Funds

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance 
for the year ended June 30

WR Long Ed May 
Memorial Memorial

International Social
Solidarity Responsibility Total Total

Fund Fund 2007 2006
Revenue (in thousands)

Allocation of membership fees 
(Note 4) $   510 $     32 $   542 $   491

Expenses
Grants 421 25 446 531

Excess (deficiency) of revenue 
over expenses 89 7 96 (40)

Fund balances, beginning of year 13 4 17 57

Fund balances, end of year     $   102 $     11 $     113 $     17

Schedule 5
Public Education Defence Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $     630 $     750
Net investment (expense) income (2) 12

628 762

Expenses
Public education advocacy 841 766
Support for teaching and learning 8 332
BC Federation of Labour — 351
Commitment to public education — (213)

849 1,236

Deficiency of revenue over expenses (221) (474)

Fund balance, beginning of year 74 548

Fund balance, end of year $    (147) $       74

STATEMENT 3
Statement of Operations for the year ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Revenue
Membership fees (Note 4) $  30,448 $  25,910
GOF fees during job action — 1,200
Transfer from Democratic College Fund 40 —
Net investment income 375 498

30,863 27,608
Operating expenses

General Operating Fund (Schedule 1) 26,378 24,054
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund (Schedule 2) 1,062 6,753
Contingency Fund (Schedule 3) 169 370
Provincial Bargaining Fund (Schedule 4) 364 811
Public Education Defence Fund (Schedule 5) 849 1,236
Other funds (Schedule 6) 446 531

29,268 33,755

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $  1,595 $  (6,147)

Schedule 1
General Operating Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $  29,966  $  22,981
Fees during job action — 1,200

26,966 24,181
Divisional operating expenses

Management 4,283 2,912
Communications/Campaigns 4,325 4,028
Finance and Administrative Services 2,553 2,534
Research and Technology 2,058 1,956
Income Security 235 255
Professional and Social Issues 4,309 3,971
Field Service 2,272 2,296
CA Protective Services 2,285 2,349

22,320 20,301
Grants to Locals 4,058 3,753

26,378 24,054
Net interest (income) expense (29) 63

26,349 24,117

Excess of revenue over expenses 617 64
Fund balance, beginning of year 14,692 14,628
Fund balance, end of year $  15,309  $  14,692 

Schedule 3
Contingency Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $      420 $      375
Transfer from Democratic College Fund 40 —
Net investment income 4 23

464 398

Expenses
Legal costs over GOF budget 84 340
Bills 20, 21 and 22 35 —
School closures 30 —
Citizens for Public Power Society 10 —
Lebanese teachers 10 —
Tsunami relief — 10
Oaxaca teachers — 10
Stephen Lewis Foundation — 8
Cuban Teachers’ Union — 5
Bills 50 and 51 — (3)  

169 370

Excess of revenue over expenses 295 28

Fund balance, beginning of year 371 343

Fund balance, end of year $      666 $      371

STATEMENT 4
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $   1,595 $   (6,147)
Items not affecting cash: 
Depreciation 1,013 936
Employee future benefits 1,462 1,085

4,070 ( 4,126)
Changes in non-cash working capital items

Membership fees and other receivables (906) 383
Inventories and prepaid expenses (272) (76)
Due from Salary Indemnity Fund (685) (97)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (476) 1,104  
SIP rebate (244) 2,408
Due to Provincial Specialist Associations 169 16

(2,414) 3,738
Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of capital assets (319) (744)

Change in cash and marketable securities 1,337 (1,132)

Cash and marketable securities, beginning of year 15,106 16,238

Cash and marketable securities, end of year $  16,443 $  15,106

Schedule 2
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $       1,470 $       750
Net investment income 349 522

1,819 1,272
Expenses

Support to locals 800 701
Bargaining strategy support 158 1,305
Bargaining mobilization 100 3,445
Third party support 4 39
GOF fees during job action — 1,200
Legal costs over GOF budget — 92
Bargaining rights/structures — (29)

1,062 6,753

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 757 (5,481)

Fund balance, beginning of year 9,163 14,644

Fund balance, end of year $    9,920 $  9,163

Schedule 4
Provincial Bargaining Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Fund Balance
for the year ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Revenue
Allocation of membership fees (Note 4) $     420 $     563
Net investment (expense) income (5) 4

415 567

Expenses
Provincial negotiations 364 811

364 811

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 51 (244)

Fund balance, beginning of year (114) 130

Fund balance, end of year $      (63) $    (114)



4. MEMBERSHIP FEE
The membership fee for the year ended June 30, 2007 was 1.45% of the gross salary of
each member.
The following summarizes the fee allocations: 2006–07 2005–06

General Operating Fund 1.31% 1.25%
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund 0.07 0.04
Contingency Fund 0.02 0.02
Provincial Bargaining Fund 0.02 0.03
Public Education Defence Fund 0.03 0.04

1.45% 1.38%

The General Operating Fund allocates 1.86% of its fee revenue to the William R. Long
Memorial International Solidarity Fund. In addition, the General Operating Fund
allocates $1 per member per year to the Ed May Memorial Social Responsibility Fund.

5. CAPITAL ASSETS
Original Accumulated 2007 2006

Cost Depreciation Net Book Value
(in thousands)

Land $  4,430 $        — $  4,430 $  4,430
Building 12,736 (4,726) 8,010 8,485

17,166 (4,726) 12,440 12,915

Renovations 771 (379) 392 469
Tenant improvements 971 (468) 503 517
Furniture and equipment 814 (243) 571 578
Computer hardware & software 1,658 (989) 669 790

$21,380 $(6,805) $14,575 $15,269

6. NET ASSETS INVESTED IN CAPITAL ASSETS
Net assets invested in capital assets are funded as follows:

2006–07    2005–06
(in thousands)

General Operating Fund $  8,534 $  8,850
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund 6,041 6,419

$14,575 $15,269

In 2000, the Representative Assembly authorized a loan of $8,400,000 from the
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund to the General Operating Fund to finance the
purchase of the remaining interest in the Federation’s building. For presentation
purposes, the inter-fund loan payable and receivable are eliminated in the combined
statement of financial position.

The loan bears interest at an effective annual rate of 3.56% and is repayable in
monthly principle and interest payments of $49,773. The current term is renewable on
December 31, 2010. Loan interest for the year 2006–07 was $218,618.

7. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The following tables pertain to the Federation’s employee future benefit plans, and
provide fair value of plan assets, benefit obligations, and funded status for the year
ended June 30, 2007:

Pension Non-pension
(in thousands)

Fair value of plan assets $ 29,137 $          —
Accrued benefit obligation (24,901) (17,502)
Funded status—plan surplus (deficit) $   4,236 $ (17,502)

The net expense for the Federation’s future employee benefit plans is as follows:

Pension Non-pension
(in thousands)

Plan (recovery) expense $ (403) $        $2,086

The actuarial determinations were based on the following assumptions during the 
year:
Discount rate 5.5%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.0%
Rate of compensation increase 2.0%

The assumed healthcare cost trend rate at June 30, 2007 was 10%, decreasing to 5% 
after four years.

8. SIP REBATE
The SIP rebate amount represents the balance of funds received from the BC provincial
government, net of refunds issued to members to date.

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a.  Fair Value
The Federation’s financial instruments include cash, membership fees and other
receivables, due from Salary Indemnity Fund, accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
and due to Provincial Specialist Associations. The fair value of these financial
instruments approximates their carrying value. The fair value of marketable securities
is disclosed in Note 3.

b.  Interest Rate Risk
Financial risk is the risk arising from changes in interest rates. The Federation is
exposed to interest rate risk due to the long-term maturity of certain of the
investments. These investments are interest rate sensitive although this risk is actively
managed by both management and professional investment advisors.

10.SALARY INDEMNITY FUND
A summary of the financial position of the Salary Indemnity Fund is as follows:

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Total assets $208,482 $198,846

Total liabilities 173,430 171,919
Fund balance, end of year 35,052 26,927

$208,482 $198,846

A summary of the revenue and expenditures is as follows:
2007 2006

(in thousands)

Total revenue $  55,748 $ 56,333
Total expenditures (47,623) (48,638)

Excess of revenue over expenses $    8,125 $ 7,695
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended June 30, 2007

1. BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF COMBINATION
The British Columbia Teachers’ Federation (the BCTF or the Federation) is incorpor -

ated as a society pursuant to the Society Act of British Columbia, and is a trade union
pursuant to the Labour Relations Code of BC and the Public Education Labour Relations
Act. The Federation is exempt from income tax. 

The financial statements of the Federation include the results of the seven funds
described below.
General Operating Fund: The purpose of the fund is to meet the goals of the Federation
through program expenditures planned in advance and approved by the Representative
Assembly. This fund also holds the investment in capital assets.
Collective Bargaining Defence Fund: The purpose of the fund is to pay costs directly
related to strikes, lockouts, the honouring of picket lines in third-party disputes, and
contract enforcement in accordance with policies and procedures approved by the
Representative Assembly.
Contingency Fund: The purpose of the fund is to meet, without delay, special or
emergent expenses that could not reasonably have been anticipated and to promote
the cause of public education by providing the financial means to respond effectively to
any crisis in education. Expenditures from the Contingency Fund are made in accordance
with policies and procedures approved by the Representative Assembly.
Public Education Defence Fund: The purpose of the fund is to ensure adequate
resources are available to effectively respond to the attack on public education
launched by the government and to support the implementation of the Federation’s
Public Education Advocacy Plan. Expenditures from the fund are planned in advance
and approved by the Representative Assembly. 
Provincial Bargaining Fund: The purpose of the fund is to pay costs related to provincial
contract negotiations. Expenditures from the fund are planned in advance and
approved by the Representative Assembly.
William R. Long Memorial International Solidarity Fund: The purpose of the fund is to
improve public education in develop ing countries.
Ed May Memorial Social Responsibility Fund: The purpose of the fund is to promote
socially responsible teaching practices.
The Salary Indemnity Fund is reported to the member ship in a separate set of financial
statements and is not included in these financial statements. The purpose of the Salary
Indemnity Fund is to meet the obligations of the Salary Indemnity Plan which provides
income benefits to members disabled from employment as a result of illness or accident.
The total fee allocated to the Salary Indemnity Fund was 1.7% of gross salary for the
2006–07 membership year (2005–06 was 2.0%). Any fund deficiency is the responsibility
of the Federation. The financial statements of the Salary Indemnity Fund should be read
concurrently with these financial statements.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements

are summarized below. These policies are in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants.
a. Fund Accounting

The Federation follows the restricted fund method of accounting for membership
fees whereby fees are allocated to each fund on the basis approved annually at the
Annual General Meeting.

b. Revenue Recognition
Membership fees are recognized as revenue of the appropriate restricted fund as
received or receivable. Investment income from the Federation’s investments is
recognized as revenue as earned and is allocated to the appropriate restricted fund
based on the investments held for the fund.

c. Marketable Securities
Marketable securities are originally recorded at cost.  If there is an other than
temporary decline in value, these investments are written down to provide for the
loss.

d. Inventories
Inventories of lesson aid materials are valued at cost or net realizable value,
whichever is the lower.

e. Capital Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost.  Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
method based on anticipated useful lives: 

Building 30 years
Renovations 9–10 years
Tenant improvements 10 years
Furniture & equipment 3–15 years
Computer hardware & software 3–10 years

f. Employee Future Benefits
The Federation maintains a defined benefit registered pension plan for all support
staff of the Federation including casual and temporary employees and any admini -
strative and excluded staff who are not eligible to join the Teachers’ Pension Plan.

The pension expense and plan funding requirements are determined tri-annually by
independent consulting actuaries. The date of the most recent pension valuation was
January 1, 2005.  The cost of pension benefits earned is determined using the
projected benefit method pro-rated on service and is charged to expense as services
are rendered. Adjustments arising from plan amendments, changes in assumptions,
experience gains and losses, and the net pension assets are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the estimated average remaining service lives of the employees.

In addition, the Federation provides non-pension benefits to qualifying retirees
consisting of supplementary health insurance benefits. The cost of post-retirement
benefits other than pensions is recognized on an accrual basis over the working lives
of employees. The expense reported in the current year, based on tri-annual
independent actuarial assessment, is an allocation of estimated future benefits under
these plans related to the service of employees in the current year. Future obligations
for these benefits are funded when they occur. The date of the most recent non-
pension benefit valuation was June 30, 2006.

g. Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles requires the Federation to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates in
these financial statements include the collectability of receivables, the useful lives of
capital assets, and the liability and expense related to employee future benefits.
Actual results could differ from those estimates and would impact results of
operations and cash flows.

3. MARKETABLE SECURITIES
The market value of marketable securities at June 30, 2007 was $6,029,860 compared
to a carrying value of $6,063,028 (June 30, 2006 market value—$7,042,739; carrying
value—$7,163,678).
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e. Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial state ments in
conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contin gent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates
in these financial statements include the collectablity of
receivables, the useful lives of capital assets, claim expenditures,
and the provision for claims. Actual results could differ from
those estimates and would impact future results of operations
and cash flows.

3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
During the building closure in May 2007, cheques were issued to
teachers who had received benefits during April 2007. To update
the automated system, these cheques were set up as garnishees
against future claims. As of June 30, an accounts receivable of
$723,000 was established with an offsetting allowance for
doubtful accounts of $100,000. Subsequent to 
June 30, $525,000 has been collected.

4. INVESTMENTS
The market value of long-term investments as at June 30, 2007 was
$224,846,294 compared to a carrying value of $202,515,227. (June
30, 2006 market value—$224,302,685; carrying value—
$192,502,902.)

5. CAPITAL ASSETS
Original Accumulated 2007 2006

Cost Depreciation NetBook Value
(in thousands)

Furniture & equipment $   160 $    (92) $     68 $  69
Computer hardware 
& software 637 (352) 285 358

Renovations 381 (199) 182 167
$1,178 $  (643) $  535 $  594

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2007 was
$134,019 (2006–$118,067). 

6. CLAIM EXPENDITURES AND PROVISION FOR CLAIMS
The estimate of accrued liabilities and provision for claims is based
upon an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2007 performed in
accordance with standards established by the Canadian Institute of
Actuaries using data supplied by management of the Plan. This
valuation uses standard claims tables modified to reflect Plan
experience. In subsequent periods the accrued liabilities and
provision for claims are adjusted based upon actual Plan

Salary
Indemnity
Fund
Auditors’ Report
To the Members of the
British Columbia 
Teachers’ Federation

We have audited the state ment of
financial position of the Salary
Indemnity Fund of the British
Columbia Teachers’ Federation as at
June 30, 2007 and the statements of
revenue, expenditures and fund
balance and cash flows for the year
then ended. These financial state -
ments are the responsibility of the
Federa tion’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assur ance whether the
financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes
assessing the account ing principles
used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

In our opinion these finan cial
statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial
position of the Salary Indemnity
Fund of the British Columbia
Teachers’ Federation as at 
June 30, 2007, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accor dance with
Canadian generally accepted
accounting princi ples.  As required
by the Society Act of British
Columbia, we report that, in our
opinion, these principles have been
applied on a basis consistent with
that of the preceding year.

SmytheRatcliffe
Chartered Accountants
October 31, 2007 

STATEMENT 1
Salary Indemnity Fund

Statement of Financial Position as at June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands) 

Assets
Cash $    438 $    1,236
Accounts receivable (Note 3) 4,994 4,513
Investments (Note 4) 202,515 192,503
Capital assets (Note 5) 535         594     

$208,482 $198,846

Liabilities and Fund Balance
Accounts payable $    1,737 $       577
Due to General Operating Fund 1,105 421
Provision for claims (Note 6) 170,588 170,921

173,430 171,919

Invested in capital assets 535 594
Fund balance 34,517 26,333

35,052 26,927

$208,482 $198,846
Approved by the Executive Committee 

STATEMENT 2
Salary Indemnity Fund

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures
and Fund Balance

for the Year Ended June 30
2007 2006

(in thousands)
Revenue
Membership fees (Note1) $33,895 $36,183
Teachers’ share of employment
insurance premium reductions 2,239 1,845

Investment income 19,614 18,305
55,748 56,333

Expenditures
Short term claims paid 11,004 9,254
Long term claims paid 28,135 27,352

39,139 36,606
(Decrease) Increase in actuarial valuation 
of provision for claims (Note 6) (333) 4,035

Total claim expenditures 38,806 40,641

Excess of revenue over claim expenditures 16,942 15,692

Administrative expenses 7,868 7,072

Investment management and trust
company expenses (Note 7) 949 925

8,817 7,997

Excess of revenue over expenditures 8,125 7,695

Fund balance, beginning of year 26,927 19,232

Fund balance, end of year $35,052 $26,927

STATEMENT 3
Salary Indemnity Fund

Statement of Cash Flows
for the Year Ended June 30

2007 2006
(in thousands)

Cash flows from
operating activities

Excess of revenue 
over expenditures $  8,125 $  7,695

Items not affecting cash
(Decrease) Increase  in 
actuarial valuation of 
provision for claims (333) 4,035

Depreciation 134 118

7,926 11,848

Changes in non-cash
working capital items
Accounts receivable (481) 291
Accounts payable 1,160 100
Due to General Operating
Fund 684 97

1,363 488
$ 9,289 $12,336

Cash flow from 
investing activities

Purchase of capital assets (75) (96)
Increase in investment 
portfolio (10,012) (11,585)

(10,087) (11,681)

Change in cash (798) 655
Cash, beginning of year 1,236 581

Cash, end of year $   438 $ 1,236

Notes to Financial Statements Year Ended June 30, 2007
1. BACKGROUND AND FEES

The purpose of the Salary Indemnity Fund is to meet the
obligations of the Salary Indemnity Plan (the Plan), which provides
income benefits to members disabled from employment as a result
of illness or accident.

The membership fee for the year ending June 30, 2007 was
1.7% of the gross salary of each member as set at the 2006 Annual
General Meeting.

The financial position of the British Columbia Teachers’
Federation is reported to the membership in a separate set of
financial statements and is not included in these financial
statements. The Federation is a trade union pursuant to the Labour
Relations Code of B.C. and the Public Education Labour Relations
Act. The Salary Indemnity Fund is part of the Federa tion and is
therefore exempt from income tax. The financial statements of the
British Columbia Teachers’ Federation should be read concurrently
with these financial statements.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Significant accounting policies used in the prepara tion of the

financial statements are summarized below. These policies are in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and the
recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants.
a. Fund Accounting: The Salary Indemnity Fund follows the

restricted fund method of accounting for membership fees.
b. Revenue Recognition: Restricted membership fees related to

the Fund are recognized as revenue of the Fund in the year they
are earned. 
Investment income on the Fund’s net resources is recognized as
revenue in the year it is earned.

c. Investments: Investments are originally recorded at cost since
they are held as long-term investments. In the event of a
permanent decline in market value, the investments are written
down to reflect the decline in market value. The resulting
balance is known as the carrying value. The carrying value is not
increased to reflect any subsequent increase in market value.

d. Capital Assets: Capital assets are recorded at cost. Depreciation
is calculated on the straight-line method based on anticipated
useful lives:

Furniture and equipment 3 to 15 years
Computer hardware and software 3 to 10 years
Renovations 10 years

experience. These adjustments can be significant. The estimate of
accrued liabilities and provision for claims for the individual
segments of the plan are set out below:

June 30 June 30
2007 2006

(in thousands)
Short term claims $    4,807 $    4,260
Long term claims 165,781 166,661
Total provision for claims $170,588 $170,921

As a result of the current period’s actuarial review, adjust ments
were required for claim benefits and pension contri bu tions
attributable to prior periods. These adjustments are included in
the operations of the current period.

June 30 June 30
2007 2006

(in thousands)
Increase (Decrease) related to 
current period $ 2,162 $ (3,447)

(Decrease) Increase related to 
prior periods (2,495) 7,482

Total change in provision for claims (333) 4,035

Opening provision for claims 170,921 66,886

Closing provision for claims $170,588 $170,921

7. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND TRUST COMPANY EXPENSES
The investments of the Salary Indemnity Fund are managed by
independent investment management firms in accordance with
investment policies and restrictions as established by the Federation
and the Trustees’ Act (B.C.) and are lodged for safekeeping with a
trust company.

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Fair Value: The Fund’s financial instruments include cash,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and due to General
Operating Fund. The fair value of these financial instruments
approximates their carrying values. The fair value of investments is
disclosed in Note 4.

b. Interest Rate Risk: Financial risk is the risk arising from changes
in interest rates. The Fund is exposed to interest rate risk due to the
long-term maturity of certain of the investments. These
investments are interest rate sensitive although this risk is actively
managed by both management and professional investment
managers.
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TEACH AND LIVE IN ALBERTA

Exchange classroom and home 
with an Alberta teacher

Continue to be employed by 
your school jurisdiction

Return to your teaching 
 position when the year is over

Contact Carol at Canadian 
 Educator Exchange Foundation  
at cwilk@ceef.ca or by telephone: 
1-705-739-7596.

One Year Exchange for Teachers

YOUR
EDUCATION 
MATTERS
EDUCATION
BEYOND THE
HEADLINES

From decision-making for your 

child’s education to accountability 

and diversity in our schools to 

health education, Your Education 

Matters welcomes guests who 

provide insights and opinions on 

education issues that matter for 

parents, students, educators and 

policy makers alike.

www.youreducationmatters.ca

BC’S ONLY EDUCATION SHOW

PREMIERS JANUARY 2008

PRODUCED BY THE FACULTY OF EDUCATION AT SFU

How can we better equip our
future tourism leaders?

SuperHost® customer service workshops 
provide essential skills for front-line workers.

Teachers can attend a Train-the-Trainer session
to certify to deliver these programs to students.

For information, contact the SuperHost®

Program team at Tourism BC – 250-387-1711
or email superhost@tourismbc.com
www.tourismbc.com/superhost

Educators B&B
Network

Celebrating 20 years!

“
Great Experience!”

Jim & Avril, Prince George #11774
PO Box 5279 - Eugene OR 97405

800-377-3480

$36 A NIGHT
FOR TWO!

www.educatorstravel.com

6000
Locations

Worldwide!

LOWER MAINLAND 

TUTORS REQUIRED
for one-to-one in-home tutoring after school hours

Earn extra money!
Teachers’TutoringService

A collective of BC Certified Teachers
Phone: 604-730-3410

E-mail: teacher@tutor.bc.ca 
Web: www.tutor.bc.ca

CASLT
The Canadian Association of

Second Language Teachers (CASLT)
has many new resources and
improved member services. 
New resources: 
• Open Your World with
Languages—Celebrating Languages
Week! The kit includes four multi -
lingual poster/teaching tools, a PDF
teacher support guide and student
bookmarks. Available for purchase.
• Common Framework of Reference
and a Portfolio for Languages in
Canada. A series of fact sheets and
an information kit to increase
awareness on the Common
European Framework of Reference
for Languages and the European
Language Portfolio and their
potential adoption for use in the
Canadian educational context.
Available for purchase. 

You can order copies by consult -
ing our resource catalogue—
www.caslt.org. 

CASLT website
CASLT will soon be launching a

brand new look and navigation for
its website. Features include:
• access to a “Members Only”
section with access to special
resources and documents.
• improved navigation to find
appropriate information and
resources of interest to them.
• CASLT's latest news featured
directly on the home page in a
special “Spotlight On” section.
• search feature to find documents
quickly and efficiently.
• fully bilingual website, with easy
transitioning between English and
French content pages.

Podcasts on FSL education 
How can we get more boys

interested in learning French? How
can we help students improve their
listening skills? How can we
enhance FSL learning for multi -
lingual students? Explore on-going
series of podcasts featuring
innovative practices and solutions
to FSL education issues. You can
download each free 5-minute audio
program by visiting www.caslt.org. 

www.LangCanada.ca 
A one-stop portal on the Internet

to access information related to
second official language teaching
and learning. LangCanada.ca, helps
teachers find the tools they need in
order to make language learning
more enriching for their students.

Established in 1970, CASLT
increases awareness, appreciation
and understanding of the impor -
tance of second language teaching
and learning throughout Canada
and promotes the advancement of
professional excellence among
language educators. 

See www.caslt.org for more
information and to sign-up for free
online newsletters. 

Teachers retired
addendum

In the list of retired teachers in
the Nov./Dec. issue, we missed a
few and printed one in error.
• Judi Johnson retired (Central

Okanagan)
• Robert Paulin retired (Mission)
• Tom Deschner retired 

(Vancouver)
• Jodi Lane did not retire (Campbell

River)

http://www.caslt.org
http://www.caslt.org
http://www.caslt.org
http://langCanada.ca


18 TEACHER January/February 2008

� �

YES      NO

1. After my tax return is processed, I want to be able to take a vacation, pay down my 
mortgage or purchase a larger household item with the tax savings I’ll receive.

2. I want exposure in my RSP portfolio to companies with high growth potential.

3. It is important to me that the funds I invest in have an ethical investing screen.

4. I am contributing the maximum to my RRSP every year. 

5. It is important to me that my investment stays in BC.

If you answered YES to 2 or more questions, 
you may be a candidate to invest in Working Opportunity Fund.

Financial Fitness Quiz

Commissions, trailing commissions, management fees and expenses all may be associated with investments in retail venture 
capital funds (RVCs). Please read the Fund’s prospectus before investing. RVCs are not guaranteed, their values change frequently
and past performance may not be repeated. Tax savings are subject to certain conditions and refer to RVC tax credits and RSP tax
savings. RSP tax savings are not unique to the fund.

Please talk to your Investment Advisor or visit www.growthworks.ca/wof
for more information.

Take a minute to evaluate your financial fitness

� �
� �
� �
� �

OCTOBER 23 - 25, 2008

PENTICTON TRADE AND CONVENTION CENTRE, PENTICTON

CALL FOR PRESENTATIONS
The mission of this symposium is to create a passion in 
students to learn engineering, science and technology; to 
empower teachers, professors and mentors to inspire these 
enthusiastic minds; and to connect educators, students and 
industry to opportunities all over the world.

Join us for an Engineering, Science, and Technology Education 
Symposium with a K-PhD perspective.

FOR MORE INFORMATION AND TO SUBMIT 
A PRESENTATION VISIT OUR WEBSITE

web.ubc.ca/okanagan/engineering/fef.html

CONTACT
carolyn.labun@ubc.ca / laura.patterson@ubc.ca

Presented by UBC Okanagan School of Engineering, 
Okanagan College, OSTEC, ORIC, and the Okanagan Partnership

2008 SPRING INSTITUTE 
April 15-19, 2008 

The Legislative Assembly of British Columbia offers an 
exciting professional development program for British 
Columbia teachers in elementary, middle and high school.  

Come to your Parliament Buildings in Victoria and learn about 
parliamentary democracy and the political process. 
 
Eighteen teachers will be selected to participate and experience B.C.’s 
parliamentary system first-hand, returning to their schools and 
communities with an enhanced understanding of democracy. 

Deadline is February 15, 2008 
 

For further information and to apply on-line 

www.leg.bc.ca/bcti 
 
 

Travel subsidies may be available for those travelling great distances. 

TUTORS
NEEDED

In home, Grades 1–12 
(all subjects)

Lower Mainland
Campbell River
Comox Valley

Ph 604-439-1790
Fax 604-439-1795

Toll free 1-877-787-5854

Website:
www.schooliseasy.com

E-mail:
susan@schooliseasy.com

A GREENER CLASSROOM
DID YOU KNOW?

Phone: 778-297-9915 • Email: info@ecosmartworld.com
Website: www.ecosmartworld.com

1) This year BC schools will throw away over 2 million 
toxic whiteboard markers into local landfills.

2) Traditional disposable whiteboard markers use xylene
in their ink, one of the most toxic chemicals in the world.

BC teachers and administrators can significantly reduce the toxic 
waste in local landfills and reduce classroom toxicity by simply 
switching to an eco-friendly whiteboard marker.

The AusPen Whiteboard Marker is the most environmentally-
responsible marker in the world. Our markers are 100% recyclable,
easily refillable and 100% non-toxic. They don’t end up in the landfills.

“Our markers are 100% recyclable,
easily refillable and 100% non-toxic.
They don’t end up in the landfills.”

Become A Greener Classroom Today – Contact us for details

AUSPEN MARKERS COST 70% LESS THAN DISPOSABLE MARKERS

BRINGING SCIENCE 
FUN TO YOU!
Scientists and Innovators in 
the Schools (SIS) is a volunteer-based 
Science World program, connecting
scientists, engineers, technologists and 
trades people with BC’s K–12 students. 
Visiting professionals bring excitement into 
classrooms and provide connections 
between science and the world around us. 

SIS, connecting scientists of today with 
the scientists of tomorrow. . . for free!

Contact us now to learn about 
booking for the 2007/08 school year!

t 1·888 ·363 ·1611
e sisinfo@scienceworld.ca 
w scienceworld.ca 

We gratefully acknowledge the financial support of the 
Province through the Ministry of Education for BC PALS
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Classified PD Calendar
TRAVEL VACATION
QUEEN CHARLOTTE ISLANDS/ HAIDA
GWAII Fabulous “mother ship”
kayaking, wilder ness adven ture,
unforgettable experiences. 1-888-
559-8317, www.TourHaidaGwaii.com
WHISTLER GETAWAY Pinecrest
Estates, 4-5 bd., 1.5 bath, 1400 sq.ft.
cabin, sauna, deck with BBQ, fully-
equip. kitchen, DW, WD, wood stove
(wood provided). Seasonal rates.
glush@shaw.ca or 604-936-3346.
WHISTLER Condo. Sleeps 4, views,
close to village,  604-943-9423,
preddyplace@telus.net.
GRANADA, NICARAGUA Discover
this beautiful Spanish colonial city
and little known country. B&B run
by retired BC teacher. For info
contact carolannrea@hotmail.com
WHISTLER CREEKSIDE 3 bdrm. town-
house for rent, sleeps 6-8 comfort-
ably, 2 bath. 604-535-9315.
BLACKCOMB Luxury 2 bd/loft, 3
bath, sleeps 8, ski-in, ski-out, 
604-940-0156.
WHISTLER 1 bd. condo (Whistler
Creekside) sleeps 4, F/P, hot tub,
swimming pool, sauna, fully
equipped kitchen, u/ground
parking, walk across the street
to lifts and stores. Book early to
avoid disappointment. Call Jan
or John at 604-530-0958.
SUN PEAKS RESORT Stone’s
Throw Unit 49, Luxurious brand
new condo 2bd/2bath sleeps 5,
ski-in-ski-out, Mountain Views,
Private hot tub, F/P, BBQ, 6
appliances, Plasma TVs. Free
Wireless Internet. All amenities.
NS/NP. To reserve call 1-866-
425-5872 or go to www.stones
throw49.directvacations.com
Reservation code:  Teacher 
FRANCE. Ultimate vacations, pri -
vately owned, beautiful furn. 1 bd.
central Paris. Provence lovely furn.
house close to Avignon. Wkly/
mthly. 604-738-1876, 604-298-3904,
irene.roland@gmail.com,
www.ultimateparis.com
KIHEI, MAUI Large selection of fully
equipped condos. Great beaches.
Near shopping centre. Call Alf,  604-
291-1751, kihei@telus.net.
KIHEI, MAUI Privately owned,
beautiful fully furn. 2 bd., 2 bath
condo across from Kamaole beach -
es. Great complex, Great location.
250-598-6955, F: 250-598-6965.
WHISTLER BLACKCOMB Ski-in/out,
quiet luxury condo, sleeps 5, pool,
hot tubs, 3 night min. www.at-
blackcomb.com, Sheila 604-929-
6589.
WHISTLER condo, 2 bd. sleep 6,
quiet family area, 10 min. to Village.
All amen., F/P, jetted tub, etc. Rates
from $100 to $225/night. Depend -
ing on duration and season. Ron
604-988-8231, rhsargent@shaw.ca

Faculty of Education

Professional Development 
for Educators

• Graduate Degrees
• Diploma & Certificate Programs
• Summer Institutes
• Online and off-campus options

www.eplt.educ.ubc.ca
External Programs & Learning Technologies

604-822-2013   |   1-888-492-1122

FEBRUARY 2008
15 Vancouver. Hemlock Mountain,
snow safety: An adventure based
learning workshop. Learn how to lead
students on a variety of alpine snow
based adventures, including skiing,
snowboarding, and snowshoeing.
Your workshop includes an on-line
learning module, guided snowshoe
trek, full access lift pass, equipment
rental, lessons, and lunch. Learn how
to integrate a snow trip into your
classroom lessons, and minimize risk
and liability issues. Registration info -
rmation: EDventurenow@gmail.com
15 Victoria. The Saanich Teachers’
Association presents “Brain Power
Matters 2008.” Pam Robbins will
present brain-based learning strate -
gies for K–12 classrooms. Pam has
worked with and has published with
the ASCD, the Florida Leadership
Academy and the National Staff
Development Council. Register online
at www.claremont-school.ca/lrc/
Brain_Power_Matters.htm or contact
Sally Glen at 250-479-1124. $30 for
STA Members; $60 for others.
28–29 Toronto, ON. York Univer -
sity campus, National Bioscience
Educators’ Conference. For more
information contact: Tony Legault,
Conference Co-ordinator at
tony.legault@gmail.com or visit our
website at www.cberc.ca
28–March 1 Vancouver. 2nd
Annual National Conference, Aborigi -
nal Learning Knowledge Centre. The
conference theme, “Seeing Ourselves
in the Mirror: Giving Life to Learning,”
will feature holistic learning practices
that support learning through all the
stages of life. Highlights include a pre-
conference showcase on holistic
learning, workshops on Indigenous
knowledge, and meeting the needs of
Aboriginal learners, banquet, conver -
sation circles, and a town hall
meeting. January 15 for Earlybird
registration rate. Exhibitor booths
available. Contact conference@fnesc.ca
or visit www.ccl-cca.ca/aboriginal
learning

MARCH 2008
2–4 Five sites. Interactive Innova -
tions. Five sites connected via web -
casting, the conference welcomes all
educators, parents, and students.
Themes include literacy, secondary
learners, the first 10 years, equitable
futures and leadership. Check out web
site: www.interactiveinnovations.ca.
Registration e-mail
interactiveinnovations@shaw.ca.
7 Prince George. Educational Spring
Fling: 4th North Central zone
conference. Featuring Barry
MacDonald (MentoringBoys.com) as
keynote in addition to PITA and
BCPTA mini-conferences. Excellent
variety of workshops for all grades
and subject areas. Prince George
Senior Secondary School. Brochure
and presenter information at: www.
bctf.ca/NorthCentralZone. Contact Deb
Vandal at dvandal@sd57.bc.ca or 250-
562-7214.
13–14 Vancouver. Special Edu -
cation Association of BC presents
its 33rd annual Crosscurrents
Conference at the Westin Bayshore.
Keynote speaker Deborah Estes,
“Brain Power.” Workshops and
exhibitors for regular and special
educators. Contact person:
bjfoulds@telus.net.

APRIL 2008
4–20 Basic Intensive Week training
in Choice Theory, Lead Managment
and Reality Processing. This 30-hour
training adds enrichment to your
resume and gives credits for counsel -
ling training and related fields. The
demand for this approach supercedes
the supply of opportunity, so sign up
early. Registration www.educere
consulting.com, contact 604-943-1967.
13–26 Cape Town, South Africa.
Join UBC Professor Kogila Moodley
and SFU Professor Heribert Adam as
they guide you through a two-week
intensive program investigating
Society, Culture and Politics in South
Africa. Study current issues compara -
tively through daily lectures by leading
South African academics, and guest
speakers. Call 604-822-3999 or visit
www.eplt.educ.ubc.ca/workshops/
capetown2008/
19–20 Kelowna. UBCO offers a
French and Spanish Immersion

Weekend. $350 includes tuition and
three meals. Accommodation at the
Manteo Resort is extra. Teachers can
use their Tuition Fee Certificate
toward the tuition fee. Call 250-807-
8177 or visit www.ubc.ca/okanagan/
continuingstudies
25–26 Kelowna. Catalyst 2008,
“Scientific and Environmental
Literacy.” Keynote speakers: Simon
Jackson (Spirit Bear Youth Coalition
Founder) and Bob McDonald
(Quirks and Quarks). The Grand
Lakefront Resort and Conference
Centre, Kelowna. Co-chairs:
kmorley@bcscta.ca, grainey@bcscta.
ca, Check web site www.bcscta.ca,
for presenter, delegate, and
exhibitor registrations.
30–May 1 North Vancouver. Fast
Forward Educational Media Show -
case, Capilano College Sports plex.
Who should attend? Buyers and eval -
uators from schools, colleges, unive -
rsities, libraries and resource centres;
trainers from healthcare agencies and
human relations depart ments; and
media centre staff. www.langara.bc
.ca/ffwd Contact Susan Weber 604-
323-5533 sweber@langara.bc.ca

MAY 2008
3 Vancouver. Investigating Our Prac -
tices 2008. Teachers from different
educational contexts convene at UBC
to share their investigations, under -
standings and questions. Call for
Proposals—Share Your Classroom
Inquiries. Submission Deadline: March
7. Registration fee: $25. Lunch and
refreshments included. Scarfe
Education Building, 2125 Main Mall,
UBC. Information: www.eplt.educ.ubc.
ca/workshops/ or contact Judy Paley,
604-822-2733, judy.paley@ubc.ca.
8–9 Castlegar. Eighth Annual Early
Success Symposium. Selkirk College.
Target audience is those who work
with early learners, birth to age 8.
Keynote speaker is Colleen Politano.
Sponsored by School Districts 5, 6, 8,
10, 20, and 51. For more information
contact Pat Dooley, pdooley@sd8.bc.ca
9–11 Campbell River. UBC offers a
French and Spanish Immersion Week -
end. Teachers can use their Tuition
Fee Certificate toward the $250 tuition
fee. April Point Resort offers a great
two nights/four meals package to all
participants. Call toll-free 1-866-528-
7485 or visit www.frenchcentre.ubc.ca/
weekend.html

JUNE 2008
28–July 11 China/Korea. The
5th Peace & Reconciliation Study Tour
to China & Korea for BC teachers. This
is an excellent PD opportunity sup -
ported by BC Social Studies Teachers’
Association. The Study Tour is organ -
ized to enhance teachers using
“Human Rights in the Asia Pacific
1931–1945: Social Responsibility and
Global Citizenship”—a teachers’ guide
developed by the BC Ministry of
Education to support aspects of senior
social studies curriculum. Organizer,
BC ALPHA covers all ground costs
inside China & Korea; partici pants
cover their own international travel
costs between Canada and Asia. For
application details and information,
visit alpha-canada.org/StudyTour or
contact Thekla Lit at 604-313-6000 or
bcalpha@shaw.ca, deadline: Mar. 1/08.
30–July 17 Quebec City. Institut
de Français, UBC à Québec, French
Bursary Program for Teachers. This
French immersion program is
intended for all teachers and admini -
strators interested in learning or
improving their French language
skills. www.frenchcentre.ubc.ca/quebec
or toll-free 1-866-528-7485.
Future October PSA days
(BCTF procedure statement 30.A.14)

2008–09: October 24, 2008
2009–10: October 23, 2009
2010–11: October 22, 2010
2011–12: October 21, 2011
2012–13: October 19, 2012
2013–14: October 25, 2013
2014–15: October 24, 2014
2015–16: October 23, 2015

PSA PD Day 
October24, 2008

PD Calendar website:
bctf.ca/Professional
Development.aspx
Additions/changes:

msteele@bctf.ca

GULF ISLANDS Deluxe waterfront
cottage, 1 bd./sleeps 4, winter and
summer rates, call Alma 250-629-
3008, www.ainsliepointcottage.com
WHISTLER 3 bd. chalet, sleeps 6,
all amenities, John 604-987-7619.
OKANAGAN Osoyoos lakeview
cherry orchard private house
rental. Weekly in summer, long
term out of season. www.lake
viewcherryorchard.com
or call Carol 604-209-7220.
WHISTLER townhouse, sleeps 8,
fully equip. 604-985-7669 or Gary
778-241-7471.
CABO 2 bdrm., 2 bath, newly
renovated condo on spectacular
bay. 3 min. walk to beach. $950/
wk. e-mail duggans@shaw.ca
SOUTH OF FRANCE Teacher-owned
holiday rental. Sunny, affordable 4
bd., 2 bath villa in Limoux,
Languedoc. Great for sharing! Keith
Digby 250-743-2439,
www.southoffrancerental. com
SATURNA Gulf Island Getaway,
www.lyallharbour.com, 1-877-473-
9343.
Fact finding and job search, SPRING
BREAK IN CHINA March 15-29, (Van-
Beijing) Visit a variety of schools,
drop off resumes, see Forbidden
City, Great Wall, Warriors; organized
by a BC teacher, $99/day (dbl) + air
& taxes, (14 days x  $99 = $1386)
ksly@travelonly.com
FRANCE FRANCE 2008 holiday rental.
Well renovated stone houses in
ancient vineyard village, SW France,
great walking, cycling, food, wine.
C$741/C$880 week per family unit.
E-mail mjcapper@hotmail.com, visit
www.ourhouseinfrance.com.au
FRANCE Tranquil farmhouse for rent
in the French countryside.
www.frenchfarmhouse.ca
SW FRANCE House to rent in charm -
ing bastide village, 2 hrs from
Bordeaux. website:
www.4rueduloup.com
GABRIOLA ISLAND BC 2 bdrm.
cottage, private, fully equipped,
starting $900/mo. or $450/wk. 250-
247-9883. boysen@shaw.ca,
www.gabriolacottage.netfirms.com 
OKANAGAN LAKE cottage for rent
July & Aug. Sleeps 6, plus bunk -
house sleeps 4. Located 30 from
Vernon. Private beach and dock. To
view, see www.carrsareus.com.
$1000/wk. Must bring own linens
and do light housekeeping before
you leave. Contact John and Susan
Carr, 604-936-7525.
GOLF-WINE TOUR in Osoyoos
w/front, 2 bdrm. condo, N/S, N/P,
Call Geroge for weekly rates,
May–Sept. 604-520-1001.

RENT/EXCHANGE
VANCOUVER Clean, bright, quiet,
centrally located condos at Robson
& Bute. 1 bdrm. $95. Daily/weekly/
monthly rates. 604-608-4268,
dbemc@hotmail.com
VANCOUVER “Yaletown” luxury
studio, privately owned condo.
Available weekends, weekly or
monthly. Secure underground
parking. 604-626-8523.
VANCOUVER Kits, fully furnished, 1
bdrm condo for rent near beach
between May and July. Contact
daphnoucho@hotmail.com or call
604-737-7181.
NORTH VANCOUVER home, 4 bdrm,
large yard, mid-July to mid-August,
$2000/mo. or $750/wk. contact
Roxie Giles, rgiles@sd45.bc.ca

RESOURCES
RETIRING? Undecided about the Joint
Life option? Order “Choos ing the
Right Options” a straight forward
guide/workbook for selecting the
best option for your situation.
workbook $15, CD $15, both $25.
Mail: Ken Smith, 5120 Ewart St.,
Burnaby, BC V5J 2W2 or BCTF
Lesson Aids.
BURNS BOG Book a field trip that
empowers your students and
satisfies your science curricu lum.
Contact Bree at Burns Bog
Conservation Society. 604-572-0373
or 1-888-850-6264.

THE SUBSTITUTE You want to
TEACH? www.thesubstitute.ca
CANADA IS FOR KIDS Buy these
acclaimed Michael Mitchell CDs,
music books and other products or
bring this popular elementary
school concert to your school. 
Full details are at 
www.michael-mitchell.ca
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY Developed
in Nanaimo by teachers, for
teachers, our lesson plans directly
support BC Ministry of Education
curricula. Visit www.ourhidden
heroes.org. Contact
info@hiddenheroes.org,
250-741-7499 or 1-877-836-2781.

MISCELLANEOUS
MASTER OF EDUCATION (Special
Education) by course work offered
by Flinders Univer sity in S. Australia
is recog nized by the B.C. TQS.
Degree avail able entirely in dis-
tance mode. Apply now for com -
mencement of study in semester
one (late Feb ruary) or semester two
(late July). More infor mation at:
ehlt.flinders.edu.au/northamerica or
from the pro gram co-ordinator,
Bernice.Burnip@flinders. edu.au
RETIRED? RETIRING? Use your
teaching skills to create another
income stream to supplement your
pension and secure your future. For
information: 604-946-8955,
bgmcclure@gmail.com
IN-HOME TUTORING agency needs
certified teachers for Grade 1–12 (all
subjects) for Lower Mainland,
Campbell River, Comox Valley.
www.schooliseasy.com Forward
resume to susan@schooliseasy.
com, or fax 604-439-1795, or phone
604-439-1790, toll free 
1-877-787-5854.
SCHOOL TATTOOS 1000 tattoos with
your school’s logo $149. Great for
school spirit, teams or fundraising.
Visit www.school tattoos.ca or e-
mail info@schooltattoos.ca or
tel/fax 613-567-2636.

USE YOUR MOUSE to find your
house! Thinking of buying or selling
in Greater Victoria, Sooke, or
Sidney? Click on one of Victoria’s
top real estate web sites for free
reports and MLS listings with full
addresses at www.carollivingstone.
com. Carol Livingstone, B.Ed,
Re/Max Camosun,
carol@carollivingtone.com, toll free
1-800-663-2121 or 250-744-3301.

GLASSER CHOICE THEORY and
Reality Therapy Training: Feb. 2, 3,
9, 10, 2008. Contact 604-983-2202.
lscott@realitycounselling.ca

PACIFIC GARDENS Cohousing Com -
munity is a new, environ mentally
friendly condo project in Nanaimo
on a spectacular 4.37 acre property
close to downtown. Enjoy a strong
sense of community, social
interaction and over 7000 sq.ft. of
common facilities. Find out more at
www.pacific gardens.ca,
250-754-3060 or e-mail
joinus@pacificgardens.ca
VANCOUVER PRO-D Presentations
that revitalize your teaching skills in
creative writing. Pro fessional speak -
er and author, Julie H. Ferguson has
changed the way over 3000 teach -
ers approach writing across the
ability spectrum. Her highly ac -
claimed sessions for reluctant to
talented writers harmonize current
brain- and evidence-based research
with professional writing tips and
give teachers practical tools to
improve their students’ perfor -
mance. Visit www.beaconlit.com/
Teacherworkshops.htm then call
604-469-1319 or e-mail info@
beaconlit.com to book Julie for your
classroom, or next conference/
school event.
GLASSWORK for teachers… a good
thing for ProD days…
seafireglassworks.com
PHOENIX Arizona. Looking to rent
or buy in Phoenix area? Contact
Marisa Gappa, realtor for the Gappa
Group. Toll free 877-200-9393 or
www.thebestarizonahomes.com

TEACHER
SPEED

DATING
SERVICES

www.Teacher-Speed-
Dating.com 

for teachers and 
other professsionals.

http://bctf.ca/professionaldevelopment.aspx
mailto:msteele@bctf.ca
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By Karen Larsen

Langley Secondary School (LSS)
recently hosted media artist David
Brigden to work collaboratively with
secondary school students on
enriching their media literacy.
Brigden, an award-winning film -
maker, taught teens to make
iMovies using the LSS “computers
on wheels” (COWS) mobile
computer lab. The COWS lab is
comprised of 32 Mac laptops on two
carts, which teachers roll into their
classrooms. 

peers would be very compelling.
Brigden is completely sold on the

value of Learning Through The Arts
(LTTA) for both students and
teachers. He notes that, “Students
discover new and interesting ways
to explore the curriculum.” He says
filmmaking as a learning strategy
can be particularly valuable for
students who have challenges with
standard classroom practices. 

My class of 30, which includes 11
identified students and 4 from an
alternate program seemed the
perfect environment to test
Brigden’s theory. While there were
definitely differing levels of comfort
with the technology, each student
was actively engaged in the process
of researching information and
designing her or his movie. I have to
admit there was a frustration factor,
however, as these students find
listening difficult and they demand
one-on-one assistance. Even with
three adults in the classroom, there
weren’t enough of us to provide the
support the students could have
used. 

one student had to resort to the
more traditional “research and write
a report” strategy due to numerous
absences.

However, even the students with
identified learning needs showed
eagerness for the project, and
student enthusiasm is what David
Brigden enjoys most about working
with teenagers. “It may not show
right away, but once a student
connects with the art form (digital
photography and filmmaking), and
finds her or his voice, there is no
holding them back.”

Ron Byman, saw his 15-year-old
stepson actively engaged in the
iMovie project. “It’s something they
can relate to. We adults don’t
understand lots of kids because we
haven’t been there. They relate to
music and visuals more than read -
ing. When you get kids sparked,
they take a lot of pride in what they
are doing. I’ve never seen so much
satisfaction regarding his school
work.”

Students are engaged and
teachers are engaged. According to
Brigden, teachers are “...receiving
the professional development
necessary to incorporate newfound
techniques into their lesson plan -
ning.” Kate Sellars feels personally
equipped to continue with media
literacy in the future—both with her
current class and with other classes.
“To have David Bridgen model a
unit, both in theory and practice has
helped me see how it will be
possible to transfer my experience
to other areas.”

The success that LSS students
and teachers have had with this
project shows that “Learning
Through The Arts” continues to
thrive in British Columbia schools.

Karen Larsen teaches at Langley 
Secondary School, Langley.
For more information on participating
in LTTA in 2008–09, visit the website—
www.ltta.ca.

I thought the media-literacy
project would be a great
way to level the playing field
and provide opportunities
for differentiated learning,
particularly for students who
don’t like to read or write.

I thought the media-literacy
project would be a great way to
level the playing field and provide
opportunities for differentiated
learning, particularly for students
who don’t like to read or write. The
opportunities were definitely there,
however a number of students
lacked the motivation to seize the
chance. Sporadic attendance made
it difficult for some students to be
successful with their project, and

Making“iMovies”
Learning Through The Arts projects at Langley Secondary School

“It may not show right 
away, but once a student
connects with the art form
(digital photography and
filmmaking), and finds her 
or his voice, there is no
holding them back.”

David Brigden, media artist

Humanities 8 and Planning 10
students used digital images they
took themselves as well as images
they captured from the Internet.
Using filmmaking techniques, the
students brought the still images to
life. In addition, the students added
sound (music and voices) to
enhance the pictures.

Kate Sellars’ Humanities 8
students made “book trailer” movies
to dovetail with their class work on
the novel, The Outsiders. A book
trailer is a new concept, where
publishers put together an audio-
visual clip—much like a movie
trailer—to get readers interested in
a specific book. Sellars and her
students are on the cutting edge of
this brand-new media tool.

Grade 8 student Laura Watson
feels that book trailers are a “...great
way to find a book. (There is) lots
more description (in a movie trailer)
than just words on the back of a
book.” Her classmate—Carys
McConnel—notes that book trailers,
“...let people know what the big
idea of a book is all about.”

At first, Sellars was hesitant to
embark on the technology project.
But the hesitation lifted when she
noticed that students were using
deeper level thinking to create their
book trailers. “Their understanding
of the major themes, characters,
events, and symbolism is repre -
sented in their book trailers. They
are also fitting their images with
narration and text, so they must
develop succinct, powerful
language that will convey their
ideas.” Sellars describes this project
as “a powerful process” for herself
and for her students.

The reaction of the Grade 8
students has been encouraging to
Sellars. “My students have
responded overwhelmingly in a
positive way. They are excited about
their book trailers and it has given
them an excellent opportunity to
explore their understanding of the
novel in a new manner. The stu -
dents are focussed and enthusiastic.
They are already planning for ways
to use our new media literacy skills
next semester.”  

My Planning class also put
together iMovies with Brigden. The
Grade 10 students made 30-second
public-service announcements on
substance abuse. Each student
researched a different drug, infusing
facts into their cautionary tale.
Brigden felt the idea of teenagers
sending antidrug messages to their

From Top:  Media artist David Brigden; Langley Secondary School teachers 
Kate Sellars and Karen Larsen; LSS students Carys McConnel and Laura
Watson with one of the mobile computer labs. 
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